RETINOL LEVELS IN HASHIMOTO'S THYROIDITIS

Audrey Folsom

Dissertation Committee Members

Robert Femminella, Ph.D. Committee Chairperson

Evgeni Kabotyanski, Ph.D. Committee Member

Oscar Coetzee, D.C.N. Committee Member

DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF HEALTH SCIENCES THE SCHOOL OF HEALTH SCIENCES UNIVERSITY OF BRIDGEPORT CONNECTICUT March 2020

RETINOL LEVELS IN HASHIMOTO'S THYROIDITIS

© Copyright by Audrey Folsom 2020

RETINOL LEVELS IN HASHIMOTO'S THYROIDITIS

Audrey Folsom

Approval of the Dissertation

This dissertation by Audrey Folsom has been approved by the committee members below, who recommend it be accepted by the University of Bridgeport, College of Health Sciences, in partial fulfillment of requirements for the degree of Doctor of Health Sciences (D.H.Sc.)

Committee Members

Signature	Date
Robert Ferninda	3/1/2020
thetter	3/20/2020
-0-5	3/6/2020

Albert Grazia, PhD 4/4/2020

Member 1: Robert Femminella, Ph.D. Committee Chairperson

Name

Member 2: Evgeni Kabotyanski, Ph.D

Member 3: Oscar Coetzee, D.C.N.

Approved by the Program Director

Albert Grazia, Ph.D. Program Director

Abstract

Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) is one of the most common autoimmune diseases in the United States. Previous studies have proven that HT patients often have low vitamin D levels and benefit from vitamin D supplementation to help manage their autoimmune disease. Research is currently underway to investigate vitamin A's benefits in the management of autoimmune diseases. Both of these vitamins have immune-modulating properties, and both affect thyroid function.

This dissertation aims to establish whether HT patients had lower retinol (vitamin A) levels than participants that did not have HT. Data regarding retinol levels and thyroid function markers were gathered from a database of results from a small study conducted at Health Matters Clinic, in Northeast Arkansas.

The study participants were sorted into two groups: HT and non-HT, and then 26 participants were randomly selected for each group. The HT group had participants that were positive for either or both thyroperoxidase and thyroglobulin antibodies, and that were not on thyroid medications such as levothyroxine. The non-HT group had participants that did not have thyroid autoantibodies, and did not have any other known autoimmune disease and had normal Thyroid Stimulating Hormone (TSH) levels.

An independent sample t-test for differences in retinol levels was performed, as well as Pearson's correlation for retinol and TSH and retinol and the anti-thyroid antibodies. The results revealed no statistical differences in retinol levels between the groups and no correlation between retinol and the level of thyroid antibodies. Retinol's tight homeostatic control, which maintains steady serum levels regardless of liver reserve status, can explain the lack of statistical difference in retinol levels between the groups. A positive correlation was found between retinol and TSH levels (high TSH with high retinol), which may indicate some novel mechanism of retinol's effect on the thyroid or retinol's involvement in the etiology of HT, therefore, needs to be validated with more data.

In conclusion, serum retinol levels do not appear to correlate with HT; in particular, serum retinol levels appear not to be decreased in patients with HT. At the same time, our data seem to indicate some involvement of retinol, or its signaling pathway, in thyroid disorders.

Keywords: Hashimoto's thyroiditis, thyroid, autoimmune, retinol, vitamin A

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Dr. Robert Femminella, Ph.D., for serving as my teacher, my dissertation advisor, and my dissertation committee chairperson

Dr. Albert Grazia, Ph.D., for serving as my program director, my teacher, and my dissertation committee member

Dr. Oscar Coetzee, D.C.N, for serving as my teacher and my dissertation committee member

Dr. Evgeni Kabotyanski, Ph.D., for serving as my dissertation committee member

Dr. Stacy Walz, Ph.D., for providing me with the database from the Health Matters Clinic, which allowed IRB approval, and keeping me encouraged through the dissertation process.

Table of Contents

List of Tables xi		
List of Figures		
List of Abbreviations		
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION		
Background 1		
Hashimoto's Thyroiditis		
Pathophysiology		
Diagnosis5		
Treatment		
Retinol7		
Absorption and Storage		
Transport, Activation, and Degradation10		
Cellular Actions		
Retinol Status and Testing in the U.S. Population		
Retinol and the Thyroid		
Hypothalamus and Pituitary Actions15		
Thyroid Gland Actions17		

Retinol and the Immune System	
Innate Immune System	24
Dendritic cells and macrophages.	24
Innate lymphocytic cells.	
Adaptive Immune System	
T-lymphocytes.	
Gamma-delta T-cells	30
B-lymphocytes.	31
Retinol and Hashimoto's Thyroiditis	32
Research Question	35
CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	36
Literature Review Sources	36
Method	36
Retinol and the Thyroid	37
Vitamin A Deficiency	37
Supplementing with Vitamin A	42
Vitamin A Excess	47
Retinol and the Immune System	48
Innate Immune System	48

Adaptive Immune System	51
Immune Homeostasis	55
Retinol and Hashimoto's Thyroiditis	58
CHAPTER 3: METHODS	60
Study Design	60
Database Selection Criteria	60
Data Collection	63
Statistics Analysis	63
Outcomes Measured	65
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND FINDINGS	66
Introduction	66
Summary of Collected Data	66
Descriptive Findings	67
Results	72
Summary	74
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	75
Introduction	75
Interpretation of the Findings	76
Significance of the Study	86

Limitations	
Delimitations	
Conclusion	
Future Research	94
REFERENCES	

List of Tables

Table 1. HT and non-HT Group C	Characteristics7	'1
--------------------------------	------------------	----

List of Figures

Figure 1. Retinol Absorption
Figure 2. Retinol in the Cell
Figure 3. Pituitary Actions of Retinol on TSH 16
Figure 4. Thyroid Actions of Retinol
Figure 5. Lymphocyte Differentiation
Figure 6. Selection Flow Chart
Figure 7. Retinol: HT vs. non-HT72
Figure 8. Correlations Between Retinol and TSH73
Figure 9. Correlations Between Retinol and TPO Antibody Levels
Figure 10. Correlations Between Retinol and TG Antibody Levels

List of Abbreviations

ADH1: alcohol	dehydrogenase
---------------	---------------

AID: autoimmune disease

AITD: autoimmune thyroid disease

APC: antigen-presenting cell

atRA: all-trans-retinoic acid

CRBP: cellular retinol-binding protein

CRP: C-reactive protein

DC: dendritic cell

DIT: diiodotyrosine

EAE: experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis

Foxp3: forkhead box P3

fT3: free T3 or free triiodothyronine

fT4: free T4 or free thyroxine

GALT: gut-associated lymphoid tissue

Ig: immunoglobulin

IL: interleukin

ILC: innate lymphocytic cell

INF: interferon

IRB: institutional review board

HT: Hashimoto's thyroiditis

LPL: lipoprotein lipase

LRAT: lecithin-retinol acyltransferase

MHC: major histocompatibility complex

MIT: monoiodotyrosine

NIS: sodium iodide transporter

NK: natural killer

PPAR: peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor

RA: retinoic acid

RALDH: retinal dehydrogenase

RAR: retinoic acid receptor

RARE: retinoic acid-responsive elements

RBP: retinol-binding protein

RDH: retinol dehydrogenase

RORyt: retinoic acid receptor-related orphan nuclear receptor gamma

rT3: reverse T3

RXR: retinoid receptor X

T3: triiodothyronine

T4: thyroxine

Tbet: transcription factor T-box expressed in T-cells

TG: thyroglobulin

Th: helper T cell

TNF: tumor necrosis factor

TPO: thyroid peroxidase

Tregs: regulatory T-cells or regulatory T-lymphocytes

TRH: thyrotropin-releasing hormone

TSH: thyroid-stimulating hormone

TTR: transthyretin

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Background

The incidence of autoimmune diseases has been increasing over the past few decades. Autoimmune disease affects approximately 8% of the population, and 78% of those that are affected are women (Fairweather & Rose, 2004). 23.5 million Americans live with an autoimmune disease, which is now a leading cause of death and disability (Goldmuntz & Penn, 2012). Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) is just one of the many autoimmune diseases that exist; it is the most common cause of hypothyroidism in the United States; and it affects about five people out of 100 (National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, 2017). Treating autoimmune diseases remains a challenge and treatments are aimed at (a) relieving symptoms; (b) replacing substances that are not made anymore, like thyroid hormones in the instance of Hashimoto's thyroiditis; and (c) suppressing the immune system (Goldmuntz & Penn, 2012). Some of these are not without side effects. Lifestyle interventions, such as a healthy diet, can go a long way towards managing an autoimmune disease (Sentenac, 2018). Additionally, restoring micronutrient balance through supplementation can also help the body restore homeostasis.

Fat-soluble vitamins, such as vitamins A and D, have emerged as nutrients of interest due to their ability to regulate the immune system. Retinoic acid (RA), the active form of vitamin A, is essential in the development and maintenance of regulatory T cells (Tregs); and it makes them more effective at regulating the immune system (Lu et al.,

2011). RA allows T cells to suppress inflammation, to maintain mucosal immunity, and to promote antibody responses to T-cell dependent antigens. RA deficiency may lead to impaired suppression of inflammation and its persistence (Ross, 2012). Additionally, RA has a role in the development of adaptive immunity. It can direct B cell immunoglobulin class switching and induce gut homing receptors in B and T cells (Vaishnava & Hooper, 2011). RA regulates innate lymphoid cell-dependent regulation of intestinal homeostasis and protective immunity (Burrows et al., 2018). It is worth noting that RA has a dual role in the regulation of the immune system. Depending on the microenvironment, it can promote either tolerance or inflammation (Hall, Grainger, Spencer, & Belkaid, 2011). RA induces tolerance by its action on peripheral regulatory T cells, and it induces inflammation by its action on the pro-inflammatory T helper cells' response to infection and vaccination (Hall, Cannons, et al., 2011).

Vitamin D also has immune-modulating properties, In the context of autoimmune thyroid disorders (AITD), and specifically HT, patients that are vitamin D deficient and are treated with vitamin D3 see an improvement in their thyroid function and thyroid antibody levels (Acıbucu, Dokmetas, Kılıclı, Celik, & Aydemir, 2016). Women with anti-thyroid peroxidase (anti-TPO) positive subclinical hypothyroidism with vitamin D deficiency, who received vitamin D3 replacement therapy, saw their thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) levels and anti-TPO antibody levels drop significantly (Aminian, Bahrami, Najafipour, & Najafipour, 2019). Interestingly, Chaudhary et al. found that patients with the lowest vitamin D levels also have the highest anti-TPO antibody levels (Chaudhary et al., 2016). Moreover, a cross-sectional study of over 6000 participants found a significant association between vitamin D deficiency or insufficiency and AITD in pre-menopausal women (Choi et al., 2014). Therefore, there is substantial agreement that normalizing vitamin D levels is beneficial in the treatment of HT. Could it be the same for vitamin A?

Research in the last decade has established Vitamin D as a therapeutic intervention in the context of autoimmune diseases. However, it is now clear that even if a patient has optimal levels of vitamin D, that patient must also have optimal levels of vitamin A to get its full benefits (Riccio & Rossano, 2018). Vitamin A, in its active form as all-trans-retinoic acid, is required for the proper binding of vitamin D to its nuclear receptor so that it can exert its anti-inflammatory effects (Riccio & Rossano, 2018). The work to investigate the potential of vitamin A as a therapeutic agent for autoimmune diseases has started, but there are still many questions that remain unanswered. Much progress has been made in the context of using vitamin A in the treatment of multiple sclerosis mostly due to the availability of the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) mouse model, although human studies exist as well (Bitarafan et al., 2016; Dorosty-Motlagh, Honarvar, Sedighiyan, & Abdolahi, 2016; Riccio & Rossano, 2018; Shiri-Shahsavar et al., 2016). Some work has been done to investigate the effects of retinoic acid on HT, but human studies are lacking.

This study aims to characterize the HT population from a small clinic in terms of vitamin A (retinol) levels as compared to a control group, and a potential correlation between retinol levels and some known markers of thyroid disorders, such as TSH levels and thyroid autoantibody levels. Additionally, the study aimed to assess a few nutritional

or metabolic factors that may influence retinol, such as multivitamins and food sensitivities, which may also correlate with HT This research could lay the groundwork for interventional studies investigating retinol as another therapeutic agent for HT.

Hashimoto's Thyroiditis

According to the Mayo Clinic (2017), Hashimoto's Thyroiditis (HT) is the most common cause of hypothyroidism in the U.S (Mayo Clinic Staff, 2017). The incidence is estimated to be 1.3% in a series of 5000 children aged 11-18 years; and in adults, it is estimated to be 3.5 per 1000 per year in women and 0.8 per 1000 per year in men (Lee, 2018). It is an autoimmune disease, in which antibodies to the thyroid gland form, which causes a decrease in the gland's function. Stress, infections, certain medications, environmental, and genetic factors are all thought to be triggers of Hashimoto's. Women are more commonly affected than men are, and it often occurs between the ages of 30 to 50 years, with a rise in incidence as one ages. HT is also associated with several other autoimmune diseases such as (a) type 1 diabetes, (b) vitiligo, (c) gluten sensitivity, (d) rheumatoid arthritis, (e) Addison's disease and (f) pernicious anemia (Dorfner, 2017).

Pathophysiology

As lymphocytes invade the thyroid gland, produce autoantibodies, and slowly destroy thyroid tissue, a decrease in thyroid hormone production ensues, which results in chronic inflammation. Signs and symptoms of this process are: (a) fatigue; (b) weight gain; (c) constipation; (d) dry skin; (e) hair loss; (f) cold intolerance; (g) depression; (h) menstrual irregularity; (i) joint pain and muscle cramps. Often, the thyroid is inflamed to the point of becoming a goiter, which is a painless enlargement of the thyroid gland. It is also possible to have nodules on the goiter. A large goiter could cause problems with swallowing and breathing and can lead to hoarseness. It is also possible to be asymptomatic in the first few years (American Association of Clinical Chemistry Board, 2017; Dorfner, 2017).

Diagnosis

The clinical laboratory assists the physician in diagnosing Hashimoto's Thyroiditis through blood testing. Usually, the findings of decreased thyroid function and increased thyroid antibody levels (thyroid peroxidase and thyroglobulin antibodies) are enough to establish a diagnosis. An elevated serum thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) level and a decreased level of free T4 are typically evidence of a decreased thyroid function. The total and free T3 levels could potentially be decreased but may also be normal. Additionally, a thyroid ultrasound may be performed to investigate any thyroid nodules and rule out thyroid lymphoma (American Association of Clinical Chemistry Board, 2017; Dorfner, 2017).

Treatment

There is no cure for HT, but the accepted treatment is thyroid hormone replacement therapy using levothyroxine (a synthetic form of T4) when there is evidence of decreased thyroid hormone levels. The medical staff monitors the patient's thyroid function closely and adjusts treatment as necessary. Levothyroxine has virtually no side effects with the right dosage, but dosages should be increased slowly in heart patients. However, other substances can affect the absorption of levothyroxine, such as (a) iron supplements including multi-vitamins, (b) the cholesterol-lowering medication cholestyramine, (c) aluminum hydroxide found in some antacids, (d) the ulcer medication sucralfate, and (e) calcium supplements. Therefore, physicians recommend that levothyroxine be taken either four hours before or after any other medications (Mayo Clinic Staff, 2017).

There is some variation in therapeutic effects between brands, and there is some debate over the need to add in small amounts of T3 for patients who do not feel entirely normal on levothyroxine alone. Currently, the majority of studies have determined that the addition of T3 does not offer any advantage over treatment with T4/levothyroxine alone, but there may be some benefit to using T3 for specific subsets of people, such as people who have had a thyroidectomy. T3 can be given alone as liothyronine or in combination with T4 as liotrix, but the combination treatment can cause excessive levels of T3, which can cause symptoms of hyperthyroidism (fast heart rate, anxiety, and trouble sleeping) (Mayo Clinic Staff, 2017).

Another possible treatment option, often classified as an alternative medicine treatment, is the use of extracts that contain thyroid hormones derived from the thyroid glands of pigs. Thyroid extracts, such as Armour Thyroid, contain both levothyroxine (T4) and triiodothyronine (T3). There is concern that the T4-T3 balance in pigs is not the same as in humans, and that the hormone concentrations vary between batches and therefore lack standardization (Mayo Clinic Staff, 2017). None of these treatments addresses the underlying autoimmune mechanism, but instead relies on replacing what is no longer produced. Therefore, HT patients need additional avenues of therapy that address the restoration of immune homeostasis as an adjunctive treatment. Over the past decade, vitamin D has emerged as such a treatment for thyroid autoimmunity, especially in patients that are either vitamin D-deficient or that have serum vitamin D levels that are at the bottom of the normal reference range (Acıbucu et al., 2016; Chaudhary et al., 2016; Simsek et al., 2016). More recently, evidence for the role of vitamin A in autoimmune disease treatment is also emerging (Erkelens & Mebius, 2017). Therefore, vitamin A might be considered as part of a potential combination therapy with vitamin D, which could restore immune homeostasis (Parastouei et al., 2018; Shiri-Shahsavar et al., 2016). One might suggest that the combined therapy could then allow the thyroid gland to heal itself, potentially allowing patients to discontinue or diminish levothyroxine therapy.

Retinol

The diet is the body's primary source of vitamin A, an essential nutrient, although the liver can store it and build years of reserve. This vitamin is crucial to many functions in the body, such as healthy vision, skin growth and integrity, bone formation, immune function, and embryonic development (American Association of Clinical Chemistry Board, 2019). Thus, its circulating levels are under tight regulation. Once in the cell, retinol converts to its active form, RA, which is used to activate retinoid-responsive genes within that specific cell. Pertinent cells that are affected by RA are hypothalamic and pituitary cells, thyroid follicular cells, and cells of the innate and adaptive immune systems.

Absorption and Storage

Vitamin A is a fat-soluble essential nutrient that must be taken in through the diet by the consumption of plant foods containing β -carotene (pro-vitamin A) such as carrots or sweet potatoes, or animal foods containing retinol or retinyl esters such as liver, eggs or milk. The pre-formed retinol from animal sources is the most bioavailable dietary source, whereas absorption of the pro-vitamin A carotenoids from plants is influenced by various factors, one of them being thyroid hormone levels, with low levels causing a decreased rate of conversion of carotenoids into retinyl esters (Hess, 2010). Populations that rely on plant foods are at a higher risk for vitamin A deficiency (Hess, 2010). The co-ingestion of dietary fats dramatically enhances the absorption of dietary vitamin A (Harrison, 2012). The enterocytes absorb all forms of vitamin A and esterify β -carotene and retinol into retinyl esters. The enterocytes package the retinyl esters into chylomicrons, which transports them with the other lipids into the lymphatic system and then the blood.

The chylomicrons deliver the retinyl esters to the hepatocytes via lipoprotein lipase (LPL) action. LPL is the enzyme that functions to hydrolyze chylomicrons and very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) particles so that they may deliver their payload of monoacylglycerols, free fatty acids and retinyl esters. A complete lack of LPL results in the inability to process triglyceride-rich particles, leading to massive elevations in plasma triglyceride and retinyl ester levels, but lack of delivery to the cells. The complete deficiency of LPL is rare in the population. However, genetic mutations in the LPL gene occurs in 2 - 4% of the Caucasian population. People with LPL gene mutations can have elevated triglyceride and retinyl ester levels, although some may have normal levels in a fasted state and elevated ones after a fatty meal, exhibiting significant disturbances in postprandial chylomicron metabolism (Pimstone et al., 1996). These mutations result in a lowered ability to process and store retinyl esters, ultimately affecting vitamin A metabolism throughout the body.



Figure 1. Retinol Absorption

Once inside the hepatocyte, lecithin-retinol acyltransferase (LRAT) hydrolyzes retinyl esters into retinol on an as-needed basis to maintain the blood supply of retinol (Harrison, 2012; Napoli, 2012; Oliveira, Teixeira, & Sato, 2018). (See Figure 1) The liver is the largest storage site for vitamin A, and it stores the retinyl ester form (retinyl palmitate or retinyl stearate) in the hepatic stellate cells (Bono et al., 2016; Hall, Grainger, et al., 2011; Napoli, 2012). Other storage sites are adipose tissue, intestine, and kidneys (Tanumihardjo et al., 2016). Healthy adults may have as much as a year's worth of vitamin A stored in the liver (American Association of Clinical Chemistry Board, 2019). Because of the liver's large storage capacity for vitamin A, dietary intake does not have a significant impact on serum retinol levels but does cause fluctuations in the liver reserves of retinyl esters (Napoli, 2012).

Transport, Activation, and Degradation

When retinol is needed, the hydrophobic retinol leaves the liver bound to retinolbinding protein (RBP) and transthyretin (TTR) so that it can travel through the blood (Brossaud, Pallet, & Corcuff, 2017; Erkelens & Mebius, 2017). The retinol-RBP-TTR complex protects retinol and delivers it to the cells where it interacts with cellular membrane receptor STRA6 (Napoli, 2012). Subsequently, cellular RBP (CRBP) picks up retinol and delivers it for its transformation into retinoic acid (RA), which occurs via two enzymatic reactions that take place in the cytoplasm (Erkelens & Mebius, 2017; Napoli, 2012). Alternatively, α -retinol, which comes from α -carotene and does not bind to RBP, can be directly delivered the peripheral cells via chylomicrons and other lipoproteins (Tanumihardjo et al., 2016). Once it has entered the cell, the first reaction involves the oxidation of retinol to retinal by retinol dehydrogenase (RDH) or alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH1). In the second reaction, retinal dehydrogenase (RALDH) rapidly and irreversibly oxidizes retinal to RA (See Figure 2) (Bono et al., 2016; Napoli, 2012; Oliveira et al., 2018). There are three isoforms of RALDH, and their production is tightly regulated. This mechanism allows for the right amount of RA to be available to the cell at the right time. The presence of RALDH in a cell identifies that cell as a producer of RA (Hall, Grainger, et al., 2011; Oliveira et al., 2018). CYP26, a cytochrome P450 family 26 enzyme, also mediates intracellular RA levels by degrading RA bound to CRBP1 to prevent its accumulation (Erkelens & Mebius, 2017; Oliveira et al., 2018).

Cellular Actions

Retinoic acid can be made into several isoforms, which dictate its activity, with *all-trans* retinoic acid (atRA) being the most abundant (Oliveira et al., 2018). Once made CRBP2 ferries RA to the nucleus where interacts with its nuclear receptors to regulate the transcription of several genes by binding to retinoic acid-responsive elements (RAREs) on DNA (Erkelens & Mebius, 2017; Taibi, Gueli, Nicotra, Cocciadiferro, & Carruba, 2014). (See Figure 2) RA-responsive nuclear receptors include the retinoic acid receptor (RAR) and the retinoid receptor X (RXR). Each of these nuclear receptors has three isoforms, which are designated α , β , and γ , and they exist as either homodimers or heterodimers. The RXR nuclear receptors mainly interact with the *9-cis* RA isoform, whereas the RAR receptors interact with all forms of RA (Oliveira et al., 2018). When RA is bound to its heterodimer nuclear receptor (usually RAR/RXR), it results in gene

transcription, whereas the heterodimer missing its RA ligand suppresses transcription. Most RA immune-related functions operate in this manner (Bono et al., 2016; Brossaud et al., 2017). Interestingly, RAR and RXR can also form heterodimers with numerous other nuclear receptors such as the vitamin D receptor, the thyroid hormone receptor, and the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) (Graeppi-Dulac, Vlaeminck, Perier-Muzet, Dalle, & Orgiazzi, 2014).



Figure 2. Retinol in the Cell

Although there are more than 500 RA responsive genes (Higdon, 2000; Tanumihardjo et al., 2016), some of the relevant roles of RA are: (a) involvement in thyroid hormone production and action, (b) coordination of the mucosal immune response, (c) the homing of innate and adaptive cells to the gut, (d) the induction of proinflammatory cytokines during infection, (e) immune cell differentiation, (f) directing immunoglobulin class switching in B cells, and most importantly, (g) equilibrating immunity and tolerance (Oliveira et al., 2018; Vaishnava & Hooper, 2011). Because atRA can have such a widespread impact, there is tight control of its biosynthesis by complex interactions between retinoid-binding proteins and retinoid recognizing enzymes, which maximize its uptake and use. atRA regulates its concentrations by lowering substrate availability via conversion of retinol into retinyl esters and by enhancing its catabolism (Napoli, 2012).

Retinol Status and Testing in the U.S. Population

Deficiencies of Vitamin A are rare in the United States predominantly due to adequate nutrition at the population level, regular multivitamin intake, and the consumption of fortified foods such as ready-to-eat cereals, snack foods, beverages, margarine, and processed dairy products. Therefore, regular supplementation is not recommended at the population level in the U.S (Tanumihardjo et al., 2016). Recommended dietary allowances are 900 micrograms (3,000 IU) for males and 700 micrograms (2,310 IU) for females 14 years or older (American Association of Clinical Chemistry Board, 2019). However, deficiencies are seen in specific populations such as those with malnutrition (food insecurity), malabsorption disorders (for example celiac disease, cystic fibrosis, gastric-bypass surgery, chronic small intestine disease or chronic pancreatitis), in the elderly, and in those with alcoholism and liver disease (American Association of Clinical Chemistry Board, 2019; Russell, 2000). The first and second National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey found that the prevalence of serum vitamin A levels below 20 µg/dL in the U.S. was low. The prevalence of levels below 30 μ g/dl was higher in children. A higher prevalence of serum vitamin A levels in the low ranges was observed in blacks rather than whites and persons below poverty status than in those above the poverty level (Pilch, 1985). The first clinical sign of a vitamin A deficiency is night blindness (American Association of Clinical Chemistry Board, 2019). Additionally, other factors influence vitamin A deficiency, such as the presence of fat in the meal, which favors absorption, enough protein to manufacture RBP and to convert βcarotene to retinol, and poor zinc status, which may all negatively affect vitamin A status biomarkers (Tanumihardjo et al., 2016). Conversely, vitamin A toxicity can occur due to overuse of vitamin supplements, especially in the elderly, or in patients with type 1 hyperlipidemia (American Association of Clinical Chemistry Board, 2019; Russell, 2000).

Because vitamin A deficiency is rare in the U.S. population, there is no recommendation for widespread population screening for deficiency. A physician may order Vitamin A testing when a patient has signs and symptoms that suggest deficiency or toxicity, or when they have general malnutrition or malabsorption due to underlying conditions, especially those affecting the gastrointestinal system. Signs and symptoms of deficiency are night blindness, dry eyes, skin and hair, ulcers and damage to the cornea, skin thickening and lesions, grayish spots on the conjunctiva (Bitot spots), repeated infections, and anemia. The signs and symptoms of toxicity are headache, nausea and vomiting, double or blurred vision, fatigue, weakness, dizziness, seizures, irritability, muscle pain, bone and joint pain, weight loss, hair loss, mucous membrane dryness, itching, liver dysfunction, cracks at the corners of the mouth and glossitis(American Association of Clinical Chemistry Board, 2019).

Retinol and the Thyroid

Retinoic acid, the active form of retinol, is involved at all levels of thyroid hormone production and action. Low levels of retinol, and therefore RA, can trigger central hyperthyroidism, whereas medically induced high levels can trigger central hypothyroidism. Epidemiologically, the main concern is the combined iodine and retinol deficiencies, which can lead to a high prevalence of goiter in endemic areas, mostly found in the developing world. However, even in the developed world, subtle deficiencies in retinol can cause health effects, such as suboptimal thyroid function, because retinol deficiency in the thyroid gland causes hypertrophy with a reduction in iodine uptake, in thyroglobulin synthesis, and in thyroid hormones synthesis (Brossaud et al., 2017).

Hypothalamus and Pituitary Actions

The control of thyroid hormone ultimately starts in the hypothalamus with the production of thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH), which acts on the anterior pituitary to cause the release of thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH). Both locations contain RAR receptors, RARE-bearing genes, and retinoid-metabolizing enzymes. Studies show that retinol deprivation and retinol treatment both modulate the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis (Brossaud et al., 2017). At the pituitary level, both T4 and RA can suppress TSH synthesis because both the thyroid hormone-activated thyroid receptor and the *9*-

*cis*RA-activated RXR suppress the transcription of the pituitary TSH β gene. Therefore, retinol status modulates TSH production (See Figure 3).

RXR agonists (rexinoids) can suppress the pituitary TSH β gene and the hypothalamic thyrotropin-releasing hormone gene, decreasing TSH levels independently of T3 signaling. An excess of rexinoids can lead to central hypothyroidism (low TSH, low T3, and T4) (El-Eshmawy et al., 2016; Zimmermann, 2007). However, euthyroid (normal TSH) or hypothyroid (high TSH) rats treated with RA show a spontaneous basal TSH decrease and a decreased TSH response to TRH (Graeppi-Dulac et al., 2014). Vitamin A deficiency increases pituitary TSH β mRNA levels two-fold and increases serum T4, indicating central hyperthyroidism due to pituitary resistance to thyroid hormone feedback (Zimmermann, 2007).



Pituitary actions of retinol on TSH

Figure 3. Pituitary Actions of Retinol on TSH 16

Thyroid Gland Actions

The thyroid gland produces thyroid hormone in its follicular cells by the iodination of tyrosine residues in the glycoprotein thyroglobulin. The TSH that is secreted by the pituitary in response to circulating thyroid hormone levels binds to the TSH-receptor on the thyroid follicular cells and stimulates hormone production. TSH regulates iodine uptake into the follicular cells, and retinoids decrease TSH-stimulated iodine metabolism (Brent, 2012; Frohlich & Wahl, 1999). Subsequently, thyroid peroxidase catalyzes iodide oxidation and organification, and retinoic acid is involved in many steps of this process. RA also reduces TSH receptor mRNA levels, suppresses the accumulation of TPO and thyroglobulin (TG) mRNA, and inhibits TPO and TG gene expression, which would, therefore, affect both iodine intake and thyroid hormone production (Brossaud et al., 2017; Frohlich & Wahl, 1999).

An endogenous mechanism related to the availability of thyroglobulin (TG) in the colloid of each follicle regulates thyroid hormone production. The thyroid is composed of follicles, which are an arrangement of thyroid follicular cells that face colloid on their apical surface and face a basket-like network of capillaries on their basal surface. Thyroglobulin, the precursor to thyroid hormones, is the most abundant protein stored in the follicle. Its synthesis starts when iodide from the blood is concentrated into the thyrocyte by the sodium iodide transporter (NIS) and sent to the colloid via the pendrin transporter. The TG polypeptide chain is synthesized in the rough endoplasmic reticulum of the thyrocyte and then modified via the addition of a carbohydrate chain. This dimer then is further modified by the Golgi apparatus and then transferred to the colloid where

it is iodinated by thyroperoxidase (TPO) and hydrogen peroxide. Iodine is covalently bound to the tyrosine molecules of TG to form monoiodotyrosine (MIT) and diiodotyrosine (DIT). TPO also couples these iodotyrosine residues to form thyroxine. Iodinated TG re-enters the thyrocyte, where it is degraded to release T3 and T4 from their peptide linkages. T3 and T4 enter the capillary basket and enter the circulation (See Figure 4) (Luo, Ishido, Hiroi, Ishii, & Suzuki, 2014; Sellitti & Suzuki, 2014).

Although TSH is a positive regulator of thyroid function at the basal thyrocyte surface, TG has been demonstrated to be a potent negative regulator that acts from the apical surface by suppressing the expression of thyroid-related genes in a time- and dosedependent manner. At physiological concentrations, TG suppresses TG mRNA and protein levels, thus acting as its negative feedback loop. Additionally, TG can suppress promoter activity, mRNA transcription, and protein levels of the NIS transporter of the TPO enzyme and the dual oxidase-2 enzyme and its maturation factor (involved in hydrogen peroxide production). These actions suppress hydrogen peroxide production and thus the iodination of TG. The expression of the gene for the pendrin transporter, which transports iodine on the apical surface of the thyrocyte to promote TG iodination in the colloid, is induced by low concentrations of TG and suppressed by high TG concentrations (Luo et al., 2014; Sellitti & Suzuki, 2014).

The conflicting signals of TSH from the basal surface and TG from the apical surface affect each thyroid follicle differently, depending on which phase of the "follicular" cycle is currently active. The size, volume, and function of the follicle depends on the balance of TG and TSH action and leads to follicle heterogeneity in the thyroid gland. TSH has a stimulatory effect on both TG synthesis and reabsorption, but the TSH-induced TG synthesis is slower than the TSH-induced TG reabsorption. TG has a strong negative feedback effect on its synthesis, which can be overcome by the stimulatory effects of TSH. Therefore, if the colloid is full of TG, the negative TG feedback effect is stronger than the TSH stimulatory effect, and it suppresses TG synthesis, while TSH only stimulates TG reabsorption from the colloid, TG degradation and thyroid hormone release in the blood. With the TG reabsorption rate higher than the synthesis rate, TG reserves slowly deplete from the colloid. This gradual drop in colloidal TG levels stops the negative feedback loop of TG and allows TSH-stimulated TG synthesis to take place anew. The low TG levels in the colloid also increase the expression of the pendrin transporter gene to facilitate the iodination of TG, whose levels will build back up in the colloid. Once colloid TG levels reach critical mass again, the negative feedback effect will take place, and the whole cycle will repeat itself (Luo et al., 2014; Sellitti & Suzuki, 2014).

Retinoic acid affects this thyroid follicular cycle by suppressing the accumulation of TPO and TG mRNA stimulated by TSH in a time- and dose-dependent manner. Additionally, it inhibits TPO and TG gene expression, interfering with the production and iodination of TG and therefore lowers thyroid hormone production (See Figure 4) (Namba et al.). In a different retinol-induced alteration of thyroid function, a deficiency of retinol can lead to an altered TG structure by reducing its mannosylation (the addition of its carbohydrate molecule) and producing monomeric TG instead of the regular dimeric TG. This abnormal process leads to reduced MIT and DIT coupling on TG and depresses physiologically active thyroid hormone production (Ingenbleek, 2013).



Figure 4. Thyroid Actions of Retinol

Retinol deficiency influences the thyroid gland in several ways: it causes thyroid hypertrophy (goiter), and it reduces iodine uptake, thyroglobulin, and thyroid hormone

synthesis. When retinol deficiency combines with iodine deficiency, the impact on thyroid metabolism is even greater. In children that exhibit this combined deficiency, treatment with vitamin A improves iodide efficiency and reduces thyroid gland hyperstimulation and size (Biebinger, Arnold, Langhans, Hurrell, & Zimmermann, 2007; Brossaud et al., 2017; Zimmermann, 2007; Zimmermann et al., 2007). Treatment with retinyl palmitate (vitamin A) decreases the thyroid gland size, decreases serum thyroid hormones, increases iodine uptake in the thyroid, and increases the hepatic conversion of T4 to T3. However, in the administration of retinoic acid as a treatment, the isoform given is essential. Treatment with a low dose of *at*RA decreases iodine uptake into the thyroid gland, whereas the same dose of *13-cis*RA increases iodine uptake (Brossaud et al., 2017; Muhlbauer et al., 2010).

Peripheral Actions

Thyroid hormones are hydrophobic and, therefore, are transported on proteins such as thyroid-binding globulin and transthyretin, which also ferries retinol in the blood. Transthyretin (TTR) carries retinol bound to retinol-binding protein (RBP) as one complex. The levels of both of these transport proteins correlate with serum T3 levels, indicating a relationship. If T3 levels are low, RBP and TTR levels will decrease as well (Morley, Russell, Reed, Carney, & Hershman, 1981). However, a German study demonstrated that hyperthyroid patients have lower RBP and TTR levels than euthyroid and hypothyroid patients, although retinol levels were the same in all three groups (Aktuna et al., 1993).
The production of thyroid hormones starts with the assembly of the pro-hormone thyroxine on thyroglobulin. Thyroxine, which is also known as T4, must be converted into the active hormone triiodothyronine (T3) to exert its effects. This conversion often happens at the target tissue site via deiodination. The local activation allows for the tight regulation of its tissue-specific metabolic effects. Additionally, as a secondary regulatory mechanism, T4 can be converted to the inactive reverse T3 (rT3) (Brent, 2012). Peripheral clearance of thyroid hormones by the liver also contributes to their metabolic effects. Rexinoids (synthetic retinoid ligands) can induce the liver to increase the clearance of circulating thyroid hormones (Graeppi-Dulac et al., 2014).

Thyroid hormone can regulate a wide variety of cellular genes that have thyroid response elements, but it uses complex signaling pathways that interact with tissue-specific thyroid hormone transporters, uses many isoforms of the thyroid hormone receptor, which have distinctive roles, and interacts with several corepressors or coactivators. This hormone can also be involved in crosstalk with other signaling pathways, such as that of retinol (Brent, 2012). RA can modulate the effects of thyroid hormone son specific tissues by inducing the expression of the monocarboxylate thyroid hormone transporter, which is responsible for the crosstalk between RA and thyroid hormone signaling (Brossaud et al., 2017).

Vitamin A deficiency results in a decreased expression of both the thyroid and the retinoid nuclear receptor, a deficit that can be corrected by either the administration of thyroid hormone or RA (Brossaud et al., 2017). Because vitamin A deficiency increases plasma levels of TSH, T3, and T4, it also increases metabolic rate and leads to central

hyperthyroidism. Conversely, vitamin A excess decreases T3 and T4 serum levels, decreases metabolic rate and leads to central hypothyroidism (El-Eshmawy et al., 2016; Morley et al., 1981).

Retinol and the Immune System

Besides having effects on the thyroid, retinol influences many aspects of the immune response, from the innate to the adaptive response. In the most general terms, retinoic acid levels can be modulated locally to induce specific responses from the immune system. It acts as a double-edged sword with the ability to promote inflammation in the context of infection but also has anti-inflammatory actions in the context of turning down the immune response to maintain tolerance. It is also critical to maintaining the integrity of the mucosal barrier function, especially in the gut (Erkelens & Mebius, 2017). In Hashimoto's thyroiditis, as in all autoimmune diseases, there are multiple imbalances in the function of the immune system. Research has documented the following imbalances: (a) an increase in $\gamma\delta$ T-cells which enhances B-cells for antibody production (Liu et al., 2016), (b) a role for Foxp3 Tregs in the prevention of autoimmune thyroid diseases and the presence of non-functional Tregs in HT (González-Amaro & Marazuela, 2016), (c) an increase in the pathogenic Th17 cells in autoimmune thyroid diseases, especially HT (González-Amaro & Marazuela, 2016; Zake, Skuja, Lejnieks, Groma, & Konrāde, 2019), and (d) the involvement of Th1 cells in the pathogenesis of HT (Nielsen et al., 2007; Zake et al., 2019).

Innate Immune System

Retinoic acid is critical to maintaining an essential part of the innate immune response: the mucosal barrier. The loss of gut mucosal barrier integrity is associated with and thought to cause various autoimmune diseases through intestinal microbial dysbiosis. There is a documented inverse relationship between serum retinol levels and gut permeability, indicating a direct role of retinol and its metabolites in maintaining barrier functionality. RA promotes gut dendritic cells to express CD103 and to produce RA, which is a signal to promote Foxp3 regulatory T-cell differentiation and immunoglobulin A (IgA) production. Additionally, it induces the homing of innate lymphocytic cells (ILCs), regulatory and effector B, and T-cells to the gut. RA is essential for maintaining the balance between immune response and tolerance, especially at the gut mucosal barrier (Abdelhamid & Luo, 2018; Oliveira et al., 2018).

Dendritic cells and macrophages.

During an infection, RA can promote the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by the dendritic cells (DC) and then induce the differentiation of effector T and B-cells to fight the infection at the mucosa (Oliveira et al., 2018). The antigen-presenting cells, such as DCs, maintain the balance between effector and tolerogenic responses, which is needed to prevent autoimmunity. In HT, antigen-presenting cells, especially DCs, colonize the thyroid gland and present specific thyroid antigens to T lymphocytes via the MHC complex in the lymph nodes (Zaķe et al., 2019).

Tolerogenic DCs express the CD103 marker and locate to the lamina propria and GALT of the small intestine. These tolerogenic cells can induce the differentiation of Foxp3 regulatory T-cells to maintain mucosal barrier homeostasis by secreting RA. However, not all DCs can produce RA. For example, the inflammatory CD103- DCs do not possess the enzymes necessary for RA production, and therefore, this DC population induces the differentiation of interferon-gamma (INF-y)-producing effector T-cells and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and interleukin 6 (IL-6). Inflammation can also suppress the expression of the RALDH enzyme necessary for DC to produce RA. The effects of RA are similar in macrophages, where RA inhibits the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and favors tolerance (Oliveira et al., 2018). The DCs found in the thyroid can be similarly subdivided into two groups: immunogenic or tolerogenic depending on their activation of either autoreactive T-cells (immunogenic leading to HT) or Tregs (tolerogenic). Studies have revealed increased levels of DCs in the inflammatory infiltrate of the thyroid in HT patients (Zake et al., 2019).

The RA produced by the DCs is also essential to induce the expression of the guthoming molecules $\alpha 4\beta 7$ and CCR9 on T and B-cells and innate lymphocytic cells 1 (ILC1s) and ILC3s. The expression of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ and CCR9 causes all of these immune cells to migrate to the gut, where they exert their protective effects (Bono et al., 2016). Retinoid levels in the gut directly correlate with the degree of gut-homing molecule production. If the DC-produced RA synergizes with IL-6 or IL-5, it can induce IgA class-switching in B-cells. Pathogen-induced inflammation can decrease the production of RA by DCs and create a pro-inflammatory environment, which then facilitates the expulsion of the pathogen (Erkelens & Mebius, 2017).

Innate lymphocytic cells.

Innate lymphocytic cells (ILCs) come from the lymphoid progenitor and migrate into infected and injured tissue. They do not express acquired antigen receptors or undergo clonal selection and expansion when stimulated. They respond to the signals from infected and injured tissue and secrete cytokines that can direct the developing immune response into an adaptive one. Stress signals, microbial compounds, and the cytokine microenvironment activate ILCs. Hours after an epithelial injury, such as in the thyroid epithelial cells of HT, ILCs act in a similar manner as memory T-cells, produce effector cytokines such as INF- γ , and do so in conjunction with subsets of $\gamma\delta$ T-cells from the epithelial and mucosal compartments (Eberl, Colonna, Di Santo, & McKenzie, 2015).

Innate lymphocytic cells mirror the phenotypes and function of T cells. There are three main groups of ILCs. The natural killer (NK) cells are the counterpart to the cytotoxic CD8+ T-cells, and the ILC1, 2, and 3 have a counterpart in the Th1, Th2, and Th17 CD4+ T-helper cells, respectively (See Figure 5) (Eberl et al., 2015). Transcription factor T-box expressed in T-cells (Tbet) induces ILC1 cells in response to interleukin (IL)-12, IL-15, and IL-18. ILC1s, in turn, can induce a Th1 response, such as seen in the pathogenesis of HT. This response can be initiated either directly through the expression of MHC II molecules in ILC1 cells (making them act as antigen-presenting cells), or indirectly through the regulation of DCs. The main role of ILC1s is to respond to intracellular pathogens and produce $INF-\gamma$. They accumulate during chronic inflammation in the gut and lungs. The ILC2 group activates the GATA binding protein 3 (GATA3) transcription factor in response to IL-25 and IL-33 and produces IL-5 and IL-13. They direct the response to parasite infections, allergens, and epithelial injury. The primary locations of ILC2s are the lungs, skin, and gut. They are integral to large parasite defense, such as helminths, and function in tissue repair, allergy, and asthma. They direct the Th2 response of the adaptive immune system. The ILC3 group depends on the transcription factor retinoic acid receptor-related orphan nuclear receptor gamma (ROR γ t), which is activated by IL-1 β and IL-23. ILC3s produce IL-17, IL-22, lymphotoxins, and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factors in response to bacterial and fungal infections. IL-22 is elevated in the early phases of HT, most likely in an attempt to protect the thyroid tissue through the activation of anti-apoptotic pathways. IL-23 promotes the activity of ILC3s and the differentiation of Th17 cells, which are heavily involved in the pathogenesis of HT, as well as the nitric oxide that activates Bcells, which are also involved in HT. ILC3 cells are involved in gut barrier defense and skin inflammation and can be associated with inflammatory pathology if they produce INF- γ and IL-17, which are both also involved in the pathogenesis of HT (Eberl et al., 2015; Oliveira et al., 2018; Ruggeri et al., 2014).

Retinoic acid promotes the generation of intestinal ILC3 cells, and it is crucial for the ILC1 and ILC3's antibacterial and antiviral response in the intestines. In NK cells (ILC1), RA acts to promote tolerance and suppress NK cytotoxicity. RA participates in the intestinal immune system homeostasis by regulating ILC responses in the intestine. (Oliveira et al., 2018) RA is necessary for the full maturation of ILC3s at the expense of ILC2s (Eberl et al., 2015). Recent evidence shows that intestinal ILCs (ILC3) express the transcription factor HIC1 in a retinol-dependent manner. In the absence of the HIC1 transcription factor, ILC3s that produce IL-22, used for tissue repair, are lost. The loss leads to an increased susceptibility to infections. *at*RA modulates HIC1 expression and thus favors the maintenance of the ILC3 population in the intestines (Burrows et al., 2018).

Adaptive Immune System

T-lymphocytes.

Once activated by antigen-presenting cells, CD4+ T-cells (T-lymphocytes) can differentiate into different T-helper cell subsets (See Figure 5). Classification of these Thelper subsets is according to function, transcription factor expression, and excreted cytokines; and some of these subsets include Th1, Th2, Th17 and Tregs (Bono et al., 2016). Signaling from IL-12 and INF- γ activate Tbet transcription in Th1 cells, which then produce INF- γ . The production of INF- γ allows Th1 cells to activate cellular immunity to defend against infections, such as viral infections; these cells are involved in the pathogenesis of HT. Signaling from IL-4 drives GATA3 transcription in Th2 cells, which produce IL-4 in response to parasitic infection. Th2 cells also activate the humoral response by promoting IgG antibody production in B-cells; these cells are predominant in the pathology of Graves' disease but show some involvement in HT. Th17 cells promote the control of bacterial and fungal infections at the mucosal barrier. Signaling from TGF- β with IL-6 and IL-21 induces ROR γ t Th17 cells that produce IL-17. Th17 cells contribute greatly to the pathogenesis of HT. Signaling from TGF- β , IL-2, and RA induces Foxp3 expression and leads to the production of Tregs that secrete IL-10 and TGF- β . Tregs are tolerogenic and protect against autoimmune diseases, including HT, whereas Th1 and Th17 are often involved in the development of autoimmune diseases such as HT (Hall, Cannons, et al., 2011; Hall, Grainger, et al., 2011; Ross, 2012; Zaķe et al., 2019).

The dose of RA in the microenvironment determines its local effects. At physiological doses, RA favors a Th1/Th17 type of response, whereas, at higher doses, RA promotes a Th2/Treg response (Bono et al., 2016). High levels of retinoic acid (especially 9-cisRA) can promote the differentiation of naïve CD4+ T-cells into Th2 cells by inducing the expression of GATA3 while inhibiting Th1 cell differentiation. However, RA is also essential for the stability and maintenance of the Th1 cells. Additionally, higher levels of RA can block IL-23 and IL-6 to repress RORyt transcription, which usually induces Th17 cell differentiation when activated. Lower levels of RA induce the generation of Th17 cells by activating RORyt to promote a protective response in the mucosa. Higher atRA levels enhance the differentiation of Foxp3+ inducible regulatory T-cells (Tregs) and induce gut-homing specificity in T-cells (Lu et al., 2011). The presence of higher amounts of Tregs suppresses the Th1/Th17 response in the steady-state, but RA is required to induce Th1 and Th17 mediated immunity during inflammatory states (Bono et al., 2016). RA can also affect INF-y production, which is involved in the induction of the autoreactive Th1 cells in HT. If RA

and INF-γ, IL-12, or IL-4 are present, then RA increases INF-γ production from Th1 cells. If only RA is present, then INF-γ production decreases from both Th1 cells and CD8+ cytotoxic T-cells. Thus, the cellular microenvironment determines RA signaling and function (Erkelens & Mebius, 2017; Hall, Grainger, et al., 2011; Oliveira et al., 2018; Zaķe et al., 2019).

Gamma-delta T-cells.

Gamma-delta ($\gamma\delta$) T-cells are a subset of T-cells that express a $\gamma\delta$ T-cell receptor on their surface. The majority of T-cells express the $\alpha\beta$ T-cell receptor. The $\gamma\delta$ T-cells are unique because they function as a bridge between the innate and adaptive immune systems and, depending on the context, share attributes of the adaptive or innate system or both. They may be considered a third branch of the immune system. $\gamma\delta$ T-cells express the CD3 marker, constitute less than 5% of circulating T-cells, function mostly as Th1 cells, and develop outside of the thymus. They are thought to be a prompt first line of defense against pathogens and can increase to up to 50% of circulating lymphocytes during the first few days of a bacterial infection. Each subset of the traditional T-cells has a $\gamma\delta$ T-cell equivalent, including the Tregs (See Figure 5). They possess the ability to recognize microbial-only phosphoantigens and to react to unprocessed proteins without the need to associate with APCs. Indeed, human $\gamma\delta$ T-cells can also become phagocytes and act as professional APCs to $\alpha\beta$ T-cells (Ferreira, 2013).

Once activated, $\gamma\delta T$ -cells can proliferate, induce inflammatory cytokines, and alter cell surface phenotypes. They participate in the immune response via direct

cytolysis, antigen-presentation, and immune regulation. They are involved in autoimmune disorders, immune deficiencies, infections, and tumor diseases. Activated $\gamma\delta$ T-cells can also induce B-cell antibody production in HT. However, treatment with *at*RA can induce the apoptosis of $\gamma\delta$ T-cells in the context of thyroid autoimmunity, reducing autoantibody production (Liu et al., 2016).

Retinoic acid can enhance the production of IL-22 in $\gamma\delta$ T-cells and ILCs. IL-22 is crucial to tissue repair and the maintenance of the mucosal barrier. Excess IL-22 can lead to autoimmune issues such as psoriasis; therefore, tight control is imperative. Higher levels of serum IL-22 have been documented in the early stages of HT. RA can also induce the production of IL-22 binding protein by DCs to capture and inactivate this cytokine. Thus, RA modulates the production and the clearance of IL-22 and directs the tissue repair process (Erkelens & Mebius, 2017; Ruggeri et al., 2014).

B-lymphocytes.

Retinoic acid is essential for the humoral response, especially IgA production, which is integral to mucosal immunity. RA is an essential co-factor for the stimulation and proliferation of B-lymphocytes (B-cells). It can accelerate the maturation of human B-cells and their differentiation into plasma cells. RA can also increase IgM and IgG synthesis in human B cells during infection. In the gut, RA favors the migration and survival of B-cells and stimulates the generation of IgA in the intestine, which has an innate protective effect (Oliveira et al., 2018). B-cells produce autoantibodies, namely anti-thyroglobulin and anti-thyroid peroxidase, during the development of HT (Liu et al., 2016; Zaķe et al., 2019).



Figure 5. Lymphocyte Differentiation

Retinol and Hashimoto's Thyroiditis

In Hashimoto's thyroiditis, an autoimmune disease that affects the thyroid, there is a loss of tolerance towards self-antigens such as thyroperoxidase (TPO) and thyroglobulin (TG). A cellular autoimmune response mediates this disease process, with resulting inflammation, thyrocyte destruction, and thyroid gland failure. However, there is also evidence of a humoral immune response due to the presence of anti-TPO and anti-TG antibodies, which are present in 90-95% and 70-80% of autoimmune thyroid disease patients, respectively (González-Amaro & Marazuela, 2016). Hashimoto's thyroiditis is the most common cause of primary hypothyroidism in iodine-sufficient areas, with a strong female bias in prevalence. The prevalence of thyroid autoimmunity also increases with age (Zake et al., 2019).

The immune cells involved in Hashimoto's thyroiditis include the proinflammatory Th1 cells, with a more substantial involvement of the pathogenic Th17 and Th22 cells, and a lack of the anti-inflammatory Tregs. The absence of the Tregs, which maintain self-tolerance, is associated with thyroid autoimmunity, especially Hashimoto's thyroiditis. If the Tregs are present in the inflammatory infiltrate of autoimmune thyroid patients, then they are usually dysfunctional and unable to downregulate the ongoing autoimmune process. The sustained exposure of Th17 cells to IL-6 and IL-23 results in their conversion to pathogenic cells, which synthesize IL-17 and INF- γ and drive inflammation. Newly diagnosed HT patients demonstrate higher levels of Th1 cells, Th17 cells (IL17+ T cells), and Th22 cells (IL-22+ T cells), with a diminished Tregs/Th17 ratio, and higher levels of INF-γ, IL-17, IL-21, IL-22 and IL-23. Additionally, IL-6 positively regulates Th22 cells and Th17cells, which contribute to the pathogenesis of HT. Higher percentages of these cells were also negatively correlated with serum TSH levels in HT patients (Esfahanian, Ghelich, Rashidian, & Jadali, 2017; González-Amaro & Marazuela, 2016; Guo et al., 2014; Ruggeri et al., 2014; Vitales-Noyola et al., 2017).

The sequence of damage to the thyrocytes in HT starts with the infiltration of the thyroid gland by autoreactive T and B-lymphocytes, followed by the production of anti-TPO and anti-TG antibodies, and then by the induction of thyrocyte apoptosis which causes thyroid tissue destruction. Thyrocytes are mainly destroyed via a caspase-mediated apoptotic death by way of expression of the CD95/Fas death receptor. Therefore, the inflicted damage to the thyroid is in the form of cytotoxic destruction of thyroid tissue. The autoantibodies have their destructive effect, albeit minor, via complement activation, antibody-dependent cytotoxicity, and induction of oxidative stress (Stassi et al., 2000; Zake et al., 2019).

The $\gamma\delta$ T-cell subset is also actively involved in HT. The δ 1 portion of these cells (dominant in HT patients) homes to the epithelial and mucosal surfaces as a first line of defense. The δ 2 portion of these cells exists in the peripheral and lymphatic systems. Activated $\gamma\delta$ T-cells play a role in antibody production by B-cells. In HT, $\gamma\delta$ T-cells are present in increased numbers in the thyroid and contribute to anti-TPO and anti-TG antibody production. Retinol, in its active *at*RA form, inhibits autoantibody production by inducing the apoptosis of $\gamma\delta$ T-cell in the thyroid tissue of HT patients (Liu et al., 2016).

Considering all the effects of retinol and atRA on the cells of the immune system, the hypothalamus-pituitary-thyroid axis, other autoimmune diseases, and the consideration that atRA can induce $\gamma\delta$ T-cell apoptosis and a reduction in autoantibodies, how does retinol affect the development or progression of Hashimoto's thyroiditis? A recent review of the literature reveals no studies that characterize retinol levels in HT

patients. Additionally, the review found no studies that addressed whether treatments with vitamin A would be successful in decreasing auto-reactivity in autoimmune thyroid diseases. Therefore, this dissertation aims to elucidate whether there are statistical differences in retinol levels between HT patients and healthy patients. The hypothesis is that there will be a difference in retinol levels between the Hashimoto's Thyroiditis patients and the non-HT patients, with the expectation of lower retinol levels in HT patients. An additional hypothesis is that, in HT, cellular sensitivity to retinol is reduced (e.g. due to the disruption of RA signaling pathways at the receptor or secondary messenger levels) while serum retinol levels remain unchanged. However, studies that address this additional hypothesis were not found, and testing this hypothesis experimentally was beyond the scope of this study. Therefore, the focus of the study was on the serum retinol levels. In addition to correlating serum retinol levels with HT, the present study sought to find a connection between retinol levels and some known markers of thyroid disorders, such as TSH and thyroid autoantibody levels, and assessed whether additional nutritional or metabolic factors that may influence retinol, such as multivitamins and food sensitivities, may also correlate with HT.

Research Question

Is there a significant difference in retinol levels in individuals with Hashimoto's Thyroiditis, as compared to individuals without Hashimoto's Thyroiditis? In addition, is there a correlation between retinol and TSH level, or between retinol and thyroid autoantibody levels?

CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Literature Review Sources

The theoretical framework for this dissertation examined the following: (a) the relationship between retinol and the thyroid considering various vitamin A statuses (deficiency, supplementation, and excess); (b) the relationship between retinol and the immune system at the innate and adaptive levels with additional consideration of its role in immune homeostasis; and (c) the involvement of retinol in Hashimoto's Thyroiditis.

Method

The OneSearch library database at Arkansas State University was searched using the Boolean AND with a combination of several keywords. Articles had to be peerreviewed and have an accessible PDF or a complete online article to be included in this review. The search used no defined period to capture as many results as possible. Additionally, a search was conducted in Pub Med using the same terms, and an interlibrary loan request was submitted for any unavailable articles. Any duplicate results were eliminated.

The search terms used were "vitamin A and thyroid," "vitamin A assessment," "vitamin A and immune system," "vitamin A and autoimmune disease," "vitamin A and autoimmune thyroid," "vitamin A and Hashimoto's thyroiditis" and "Hashimoto's thyroiditis." This search revealed that alternative terms should be used for vitamin A. Therefore, the same searches were executed again substituting "retinol" and then "retinoic acid" for "vitamin A" in the search parameters. Original research was preferentially selected, but meta-analysis reviews from the last decade were also included. The search included all types of research, due to the low availability of results. The search strategy yielded a mix of animal studies, human studies, histological, and cytological studies. The total amount of articles found in all categories was 101 articles. Only one was relevant to retinoic acid and Hashimoto's thyroiditis. However, 22 articles were found that related to HT or autoimmune thyroid disease, although those emphasized the involvement of the immune system. The retinol and the immune system search resulted in 23 articles, retinol, and autoimmune disease yielded 17 articles, retinol, and the thyroid yielded another 32, and assessment of vitamin A resulted in 7 articles.

Retinol and the Thyroid

Vitamin A Deficiency

In their recent review of the effects of vitamin A on endocrine tissue, Brossaud, Pallet and Corcuff (2017) note that vitamin A deficiency in animals causes thyroid hypertrophy with a reduction in iodine uptake, of thyroglobulin and thyroid hormone synthesis (Zimmermann, Wegmüller, Zeder, Chaouki, & Torresani, 2004). Vitamin A deficiency in rats reduces the expression of retinoid and thyroid nuclear receptors in peripheral cells, thus affecting their function (Féart et al., 2005). Combined iodine and vitamin A deficiencies produce a more significant impact on thyroid metabolism than either single nutrient deficiency (Zimmermann et al., 2007). This type of deficiency is prevalent in low-income countries. This review combines animal and human evidence, but the human evidence is exclusively from low-income country studies, which is not the population that is at risk for Hashimoto's thyroiditis.

Zimmerman (2007) reviews the combined effects of vitamin A and iodine deficiencies on the pituitary-thyroid axis. His findings reveal that this type of deficiency affects more than a third of the global population, with women of reproductive age and young children being the most vulnerable. At the level of the thyroid, vitamin A deficiency causes thyroid hypertrophy, reduces thyroidal iodine uptake, and impairs synthesis of thyroglobulin and coupling of iodotyrosine residues to form thyroid hormone (Ingenbleek, 2013; Oba & Kimura, 1980). It also decreases intrathyroidal T3 and T4. At the periphery, vitamin A deficiency increases total and free T4 and T3 and reduces the hepatic conversion of T4 to T3 (Brown et al., 2000; Ingenbleek, 2013). It also decreases cellular T3 uptake and binding (Higueret, Pailler, & Garcin, 1989). He suggests that this effect could be mediated by the shared transport protein transthyretin, which carries retinol bound to retinol-binding protein and 10 to 15% of T4 and T3. Thyroid-binding globulin transports the rest. At the pituitary level, he found that vitamin A deficiency increases pituitary TSHβ mRNA levels and increases serum total T4 levels (Wolf, 2002). It also renders the pituitary thyrotropes relatively insensitive to feedback control by thyroid hormones. Vitamin A deficiency also exhibits an increased in hypothalamic thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH) and pituitary TSH despite the high levels of T4 and T3 (Breen, Matsuura, Ross, & Gurr, 1995; Brown et al., 2000; Haugen, Brown, Wood, Gordon, & Ridgway, 1997). Recent rat studies included in this review demonstrated that vitamin A deficiency alone was not sufficient to cause a significant change in TSH,

TSH β mRNA, and thyroid weight. The combined vitamin A and iodine deficiency is the most significant modifier of thyroid function (Biebinger et al., 2006).

Zimmerman's (2007) review of human studies included cross-sectional studies done in low-income countries such as Senegal and Ethiopia. In Senegalese adults, there is a strong negative correlation between the increasing severity of goiter and serum retinol (Ingenbleek, 1992). In Ethiopian children, those with visible goiters had significantly lower serum retinol (Wolde-Gebriel, Gebru, Fisseha, & West, 1993). The limitation of these studies is the inability to distinguish between the effects of vitamin A deficiency and protein malnutrition. However, in their cross-sectional study of 2331 Iranian children, Hashemipour et al. (2009) found no children with vitamin A deficiency in either the goitrous or the non-goitrous group. About a third of the children in each group had a low vitamin A status (meaning less than $30 \mu g/dL$), indicating that in this iodine replete area, vitamin A status is not correlated to residual goiter in children. The weakness of this study was that they used palpation to assess goiter, whereas examination via ultrasound would have been more accurate. The goiters could be due to proteinenergy malnutrition or other micronutrient deficiency, neither of which are related to the development of HT (Hashemipour et al., 2009).

Using the evidence from 76 human studies, research nutritionist Sonja Hess (2010) examined the impact of common micronutrient deficiencies (iodine, iron, zinc, and vitamin A) on thyroid metabolism. These deficiencies affect low-income countries due to a lack of access to adequate nutrition and are a significant public health concern. She concurs with Zimmerman at al. that vitamin A deficiency affects the thyroid at all levels: pituitary, thyroid, and periphery. Vitamin A deficiency reduces iodine uptake by the thyroid, impairs thyroid hormone synthesis, which decreases intrathyroidal T4 and T3, and leads to thyroid hypertrophy (goiter). At the periphery, it increases T4 and T3 levels but decreases T4 (inactive) to T3 (active) conversion and decreases T3 uptake and binding (Hess, 2010). The weakness of this review is that this deficiency phenomenon occurs in low-income countries due to lack of nutrients, and Hashimoto's thyroiditis is more common in high-income countries that are iodine replete and well-fed.

El-Eshmawy et al. (2016) examined the vitamin A status in relationship to the thyroid axis in 112 patients with clinically stable hepatitis C-related cirrhosis, matched to 56 healthy controls, in their case-controlled study. They measured vitamin A levels via High-Performance Liquid Chromatography, used standard lab testing for liver function (albumin, total bilirubin, aspartate transferase, alanine transferase, and INR) with antihepatitis C testing, and thyroid function was assessed by measuring levels of free T3, free T4, TSH, rT3, TPO antibodies, and thyroid ultrasonography. Altered vitamin A and thyroid status is a common finding in patients with liver cirrhosis. They found a high prevalence of vitamin A deficiency in this population, which makes sense because the liver is the primary storage site for vitamin A. These patients also had higher levels of free T4, free T3, TSH, and thyroid volume than the healthy controls. Vitamin A deficiency was associated with Child-Pugh scores (cirrhosis severity) and TSH. They concluded that vitamin A deficiency might be linked to central hypothyroidism in this patient population. This well-done research validates the observation that vitamin A deficiency and central hyperthyroidism are common in liver cirrhosis patients. The

weakness of this study is that two-thirds of the liver cirrhosis patients were undernourished and, therefore, had inadequate intake of vitamin A as compared to the healthy controls. Interestingly, they found that thyroid autoimmunity prevalence was higher in the liver cirrhosis population (El-Eshmawy et al., 2016).

In their 1981 study, Morley et al. examined the relationship of thyroid hormones with vitamin A and zinc nutritional status in 62 clinically stable patients with chronic hepatic and gastrointestinal disorders. They treated the ten patients that had vitamin A deficiency evidenced by retinol levels below 40 µg/dL and reassessed them afterward. Treatment consisted of retinyl palmitate at 10,000 to 30,000 IU per day. They measured total T3, T3 uptake, total T4, TSH, and calculated the free thyroxine index for thyroid function assessment and measured vitamin A, retinol-binding protein, and pre-albumin (transthyretin) in all patients. The patients with chronic hepatic and gastrointestinal disorders exhibited lower T3 levels with lower RBP and pre-albumin levels. The vitamin A therapy in the deficient patients increased their T3, T4, free T3, and RBP levels, and did not change the pre-albumin concentrations. Vitamin A therapy in healthy patients initially decreased the T4 and T3 levels and then returned them to normal a few weeks later. They hypothesized that the low T3 syndrome present in their chronically ill patients was due to a deranged retinol-RBP metabolism, which may interfere with T4 entry into the liver or with the enzymatic conversion of T4 to T3 in the liver. The weakness of this study is that it used a heterogeneous patient population affected by many different gastrointestinal and hepatic disorders, although they were all clinically stable, free of alcohol, and consumed balanced diets (Morley et al., 1981).

Interestingly, their findings are in opposition to the liver cirrhosis study done by El-Eshmawy many decades later. In this study, vitamin A deficiency (less than 40 μ g/dL) was seen in patients with a hypothyroid profile, whereas in the liver cirrhosis study, vitamin A deficiency (less than 20 μ g/dL or 0.70 μ mol/L) correlated with a hyperthyroid state (Morley et al., 1981). Evidently, what constitutes vitamin A deficiency has also changed over the years.

Supplementing with Vitamin A

In their thorough review of the effects of vitamin A on endocrine tissue, Brossaud, Pallet and Corcuff (2017) found that, in rats, supplementation with retinyl palmitate decreases thyroid gland size and serum thyroid hormones and increases thyroidal iodine uptake and hepatic conversion of T4 (inactive) to T3 (active). Another interesting fact they reported on is that a low-dose *at*RA treatment decreases iodine uptake, whereas the same dose of *13-cis*RA increases iodine uptake. Therefore, the RA isoform produced is essential to the cellular effect. In their review, they also note that RA can reduce TSH receptor mRNA, and suppress the accumulation of TPO and TG mRNA. RA also modulates the effects of thyroid hormones on target tissues by inducing the expression of the thyroid hormone transporter (Brossaud et al., 2017).

In his review of the interactions of vitamin A and iodine deficiencies on the pituitary-thyroid axis, Zimmermann (2007) reports that in a double-blind randomized control 10-month trial of children with iodine and vitamin A deficiency, concurrent supplementation of iodized salt and vitamin A decreased the thyroglobulin, median TSH

and goiter rate in the vitamin A-treated group as compared to the placebo group. (Zimmermann, 2007) Biebinger, Arnold, Langhans, Hurrell, and Zimmermann's casecontrolled rat study showed that high dose vitamin A supplementation alone, without iodine repletion, in iodine and vitamin A deficient rats is sufficient to reduce thyroid hyperstimulation and reduce the risk for goiter. Their rat study also demonstrated that the iodine and vitamin A deficient diet lead to moderate vitamin A deficiency and primary hypothyroidism with increases in serum TSH, pituitary TSH^β mRNA, and thyroid size, and decreases in thyroid hormone concentrations. A single high dose of vitamin A was enough to return the serum retinol levels to normal in both the iodine-sufficient and iodine-deficient rats. Additionally, despite continuing vitamin A deficiency, providing an iodine-sufficient diet was enough to restore the normal function of the pituitary-thyroid axis. The high dose vitamin A treatment of the iodine-sufficient rats did not have any effects on the pituitary-thyroid axis, but the same treatment in iodine-deficient rats slightly reduced the pituitary production of TSH, reduced stimulation of the thyroid and had no effects on the circulating thyroid hormones. One of the study's weaknesses is that it assumed vitamin A repletion based on serum retinol levels without assessing liver stores. They suggest that vitamin A treatment could be beneficial to humans that live in areas of endemic goiter. Their finding that the provision of an iodine-sufficient diet restores the function of the pituitary-thyroid axis despite vitamin A status contradicts earlier findings that showed that severe vitamin A deficiency affects the pituitary-thyroid axis regardless of iodine status. The differences in the severity of vitamin A deficiency between the studies explain this discrepancy (Biebinger et al., 2007).

In another study by Zimmermann et al. (2007), the team conducted a 6-month randomized, double-blind, 2 x 2 interventional trial in South African children with mild to moderate vitamin A and iodine deficiency. Serum retinol levels of less than 0.70 μ mol/L (20 μ g/dL) defined vitamin A deficiency, and serum retinol levels less than 1.05 μ mol/L (30 μ g/dL) indicated low vitamin A status. They supplemented children with either (a) iodine as 191 mg iodine as oral iodized oil and placebo, (b) vitamin A as 200,000 IU of retinyl palmitate and placebo, (c) both iodine and vitamin A at the doses already described, (d) placebo. They measured baseline, 3-month and 6-month urinary iodine levels, thyroid volume by portable echocamera, TSH, total T4, thyroglobulin, serum retinol, and serum retinol-binding protein. They found an apparent effect of vitamin A supplementation alone on TSH, thyroglobulin, and thyroid volume. However, they also found that in the group receiving vitamin A and iodine supplementation, the effects on the thyroid axis were minimal compared to the effects of iodine supplementation alone. They concluded that iodine supplementation was sufficient to restore iodine status in vitamin A deficient areas, vitamin A supplementation was enough to treat vitamin A deficiency in areas of iodine deficiency, and that it also suppresses the pituitary TSH β gene. These findings suggest that vitamin A supplementation can reduce the risk of goiter and its sequelae, but it is not likely to have any effects on thyroid function in iodine-sufficient areas, and it even may depend on the severity of iodine deficiency. This study has a robust design, and it partially explains the inverse correlation between vitamin A status and goiter that is seen in the cross-sectional studies of developing countries (Zimmermann et al., 2007).

In their 4-month, double-blind, randomized placebo-controlled trial of the effect of vitamin A supplementation on thyroid function in obese premenopausal women, Farhangi et al. (2012) found that treatment with vitamin A significantly lowered TSH levels in obese and non-obese women. They measured baseline and 4-month concentrations of TSH, total T4, total T3, retinol-binding protein, and transthyretin. In addition to the finding of a lowered TSH, they noted that serum T3 levels also increased in both obese and non-obese vitamin A treated groups, serum T4 decreased in all treated groups, and serum RBP decreased in the obese group. They concluded that vitamin A supplementation might reduce the risk of subclinical hypothyroidism (defined as mild increases in TSH with T4 levels in the normal range) in premenopausal women. Their study included 84 women, 58 of whom were obese. They needed a total sample size of 75, which they met considering nine dropped out of the study. The supplement used was 25,000 IU of retinyl palmitate, which shows good bioavailability. Some of the women in each group had hypothyroidism, and the incidence of hypothyroidism decreased after treatment, but only the non-obese group showed significance. The authors postulate that this could be attributed to the differences in serum leptin levels between obese and nonobese women because leptin might decrease the pituitary-thyroid axis' responsiveness to therapeutic agents such as levothyroxine or vitamin A in obesity (Farhangi, Keshavarz, Eshraghian, Ostadrahimi, & Saboor-Yaraghi, 2012).

Additionally, they found that serum RBP levels decreased in vitamin A-treated obese women. They explain that RBP is overexpressed in white adipose tissue and may have a link with insulin resistance. *at*RA treatment can reduce RBP levels and suppress

insulin resistance in people with diabetes. They also postulated that because RBP is a negative acute-phase reactant, and obesity is an inflammatory condition, obesity lowers RBP levels. One of the limitations of this study was that the authors used the RBP toTTR ratio to estimate vitamin A status, and because they had some obese participants, this possibly was not an accurate assessment tool. It would have been better to use serum retinol levels, but it was too costly. They also used only women participants; therefore, findings are not generalizable to men; and neglected to assess iodine status (Farhangi et al., 2012).

Muhlbauer at al. (2010) used normal rats and treated them with different isomers of RA to evaluate thyroid iodine organification. They used the *at*RA and *13 cis*-RA isomers at 100 or 1500 μ g/100 g body weight. The correct RA treatments can help increase the uptake of radioactive iodine into thyroid carcinoma cells, making the treatment more effective. The treatment effect was evaluated on healthy thyroid cells to attempt to elucidate the role of RA. The organification of iodine is catalyzed by thyroid peroxidase in the presence of hydrogen peroxide. To assess the treatment effect, they measured TPO oxidase activity, dual oxidase activity, and thyroid radioiodide content from the rat's thyroid glands, and the rats' serum total T4. The *at*RA treatment decreased thyroid iodine uptake, but the sodium-iodine transporter (NIS) function and TPO activity were unchanged, while the treatment significantly decreased the dual oxidase activity. However, the *13 cis*-RA treatment increased iodine uptake, TPO activity was unchanged, hydrogen peroxide levels increased, and serum thyroxine levels were normal. Therefore, the authors conclude that the isomer of RA used in treatment is essential and that RA exerts its effect by regulating the activity of dual oxidase. The availability of hydrogen peroxide is the rate-limiting step in iodine organification, and the dual oxidase enzyme regulates the thyrocyte's hydrogen peroxide content. The exact mechanism of how RA regulates the dual oxidase enzyme is still unknown, and this is one of the weaknesses of this study, along with a low number of rats used (at least 6 in each group). The authors also noted that because thyroxine levels remained unchanged, there are unknown compensatory mechanisms in place to keep thyroxine levels steady (Muhlbauer et al., 2010).

Vitamin A Excess

In their cytology study, Frohlich and Wahl (1999) evaluated the effects of retinol on follicular porcine thyrocytes in culture using light- and electron microscopy. They used 0-2 μ mol of *all-trans*-retinol per well of cultured thyroid cells, added on day 3, after follicle formation. Then, they treated the wells with viable thyrocyte follicles with 0, 7, 14, 27, 40, 53, 80, and 106 μ M of retinol. Electron microscopy was used to assess the effects of the various retinol treatments because it allows the distinction between the membrane-toxic effects, where the membranes disappear, and the apoptotic effects, which alter the nucleus and the endoplasmic reticulum (Frohlich & Wahl, 1999).

Additionally, the TUNEL test identified apoptotic cells. This test recognizes nicked DNA. Thyrocytes cultured in anything less than 27 μ M of retinol were normal, and the higher retinol concentrations affected the morphology in a dose-dependent manner. Usually, retinol modulates iodine metabolism. However, at high concentrations,

retinoids are cytotoxic to healthy thyroid cells, although the mechanism was unknown. The authors found that thyrocyte cytotoxicity was due to apoptosis. Electron microscopy was the right testing choice as it can distinguish between membrane-toxic and apoptotic effects. Evaluated effects were also dose-dependent, which validates the techniques used (Frohlich & Wahl, 1999).

Using a case report, Graeppi-Dulac et al. (2014) review the evidence for the effects of retinoids on the thyroid axis. Bexarotene (Targretin) is a retinoid (vitamin A derivative) used to treat late-stage cutaneous T-cell lymphomas, and it is known to induce significant hypothyroidism through TSH suppression, independently of T3 levels. Just as vitamin A deficiency induces central hyperthyroidism by upregulating TSH β in the pituitary via RXR γ inactivation, vitamin A excess induces central hypothyroidism by suppressing pituitary TSH β via RXR γ nuclear receptor activation. Other studies evaluated by the author provide evidence that bexarotene also increases thyroid hormone metabolism by the liver, increasing peripheral clearance, and lowering circulating thyroid hormones. Their review is thorough, including 58 studies of diverse nature (Graeppi-Dulac et al., 2014).

Retinol and the Immune System

Innate Immune System

In their histological mouse study, Burrows et al. (2018) discovered that intestinal innate lymphocytic cells (ILCs) express the Hypermethylated in Cancer 1 (HIC1) transcriptional repressor in a vitamin A-dependent manner. The authors purchased a

vitamin A-deficient diet to feed the mice. After the appropriate time frame, they removed the Peyer's patches to isolate the lymphocytes from the lamina propria. They measured absolute cell counts, performed intracellular cytokine staining, as well as fluorescent antibody staining for all the cell membrane and nuclear markers, and RNA isolation and quantitative real-time PCR. If HIC1 is absent, then the ILC3s that produce IL-22 are lost, and the loss increases susceptibility to intestinal infections. Therefore, atRA-dependent expression of HIC1 regulates intestinal homeostasis and protective immunity. This atRA is produced by intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) and CD103+ dendritic cells to maintain intestinal barrier integrity. Lack of vitamin A in the diet results in a decreased number of ILC3s and DCs but an increased number of ILC2s with enhanced type 2 immunity. Deletion of HIC1 reduces the number of $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T-cells, CD103+ DCs, and ILC3s. The increased susceptibility to infection is due to the decreased number of T-bet and RORyt-expressing ILC3s and the decreased production of IL-22 by those ILC3s (Burrows et al., 2018). The work of Burrows et al. (2018) highlights the role of vitamin A at the front lines of innate immunity, namely barrier integrity. The molecular mechanisms are still unknown, but the authors suggest that RA induces the expression of HIC1 to promote cellular dormancy.

In their recent review article of 132 articles over ILCs, Eberl, Colonna, Di Santo, and McKenzie (2015) explore the role of ILCs as a new paradigm in immunology. They explain that the functions of the innate ILCs mirror those of the adaptive T cells. Natural killer (NK) cells mirror CD8+ cytotoxic T-cells, ILC1s mirror CD4+ T helper 1 (Th1) cells to fight intracellular pathogens, viruses, and tumors, ILC2s mirror Th2 cells to fight

large parasites, allergens, and epithelial injury and ILC3s mirror Th17 cells to fight extracellular microbes, bacteria, and fungi. Stress ligands, bacteria, and dietary compounds activate these innate cells, they do not undergo antigen-activation and clonal selection, and they act more like memory cells, enabling a prompt immune response. ILCs can regulate the activity of DCs and T-cells and can function as antigen-presenting cells, directing the adaptive immune response. Retinoic Acid (RA) favors the maturation of ILC3s at the expense of ILC2s, directing the immune system towards a type 3 immune reaction (bacteria and fungi) and inducing tissue repair via the production of IL-22 (Eberl et al., 2015).

In his meta-analysis of $\gamma\delta$ T-cells, Ferreira (2013) reviews 235 articles to characterize this novel subset of T-cells and their function in mice and men. These cells have a $\gamma\delta$ TCR instead of an $\alpha\beta$ TCR and possess innate and adaptive immune receptors. TCRs are highly homologous to antibodies produced by B-cells, and in $\gamma\delta$ T-cells, the TCR specificity correlates to function and tissue location. $\gamma\delta$ T-cells also possess a CD3 cell surface marker and comprise between 0.5 to 5 percent of T-cells. The context in which these cells operate determines if they function as innate cells, adaptive cells, or both. Some say they are the third branch of the immune system. They are thought to function as a prompt first line of defense against pathogens, in which case their numbers can increase to comprise more than 50 percent of peripheral lymphocytes. These cells have subtypes that mirror each of the $\alpha\beta$ T-cells subtypes, namely cytotoxic, Th1, Th2, Th17, and Treg. $\gamma\delta$ T-cells can act as phagocytes and function as antigen-presenting cells (Ferreira, 2013). In their histological investigation of thyroid tissue of patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis, Liu et al. (2015) found that treating thyroidal $\gamma\delta$ T-cells with *at*RA induced apoptosis of the $\gamma\delta$ T-cells. Analysis of those tissues also revealed that $\gamma\delta$ T-cells enhanced B-cells for antibody production, therefore contributing to the pathogenesis of Hashimoto's thyroiditis (Liu et al., 2016).

Adaptive Immune System

In their review of RA as a modulator of T-cell immunity, Bono et al. (2016) evaluate over 100 articles to elucidate the effect of RA on this branch of the immune system. Vitamin A is one of the most common micronutrient deficiency in the world, and it is associated with deficiencies in the adaptive immune response. This deficiency can lead to decreased cellular and humoral immune responses, inadequate immune regulation, a weak response to vaccines, and poor lymphoid organ development. RA induces T-cell homing to the gut via the production of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ integrin and CCR9. Gut CD103+ DCs from Peyer's patches and mesenteric lymph nodes provide a source of RA for these cells (Bono et al., 2016).

Additionally, Tregs are crucial to maintain gut homeostasis and tolerance to commensal microbiota and food proteins in the gut. Naïve T-cells can be transformed into Tregs in the gut via the interaction with gut DCs that produce RA, which acts on RARα. RA also blocks the production of cytokines that block Treg differentiation. At pharmacological doses, RA has been shown to inhibit the Th1 and Th17 responses while inducing the generation of Tregs. However, lower doses of RA, even physiological ones, fail to inhibit Th17 cell differentiation and may even favor the differentiation of the

Th1 and Th17 lineages. Vitamin A deficiency can significantly impair the Th1 and Th17 responses. In the presence of IL-12 and IL-23, RA promotes Th1 and Th17 differentiation and inhibits Treg differentiation. Context determines the effect of RA, in a steady, state RA favors Treg suppression of Th1 and Th17, and in an inflammatory state, RA favors Th1 and Th17 cell-mediated immunity. Regarding Th1/Th2 balance, vitamin A deficiency contributes to INF- γ overproduction while dietary RA down-regulates the Th1 response and upregulates the Th2 response and protective IgA production. RA is an essential metabolite in the development of an appropriate immune response (Bono et al., 2016).

In their mouse model investigation of the molecular mechanisms of Treg induction, Lu et al. (2011) found that *at*RA promoted TGF- β -induced Tregs via histone modification on the Foxp3 gene locus. They assessed cell differentiation and function of the Tregs, used flow cytometry and marker specific antibodies to assess cell membrane (CD) markers, TGF- β and Foxp3, used real-time PCR to quantify Foxp3 mRNA, ran a Western-Blot analysis to assess protein composition, and assessed Foxp3 methylation. They found that the treatment of naïve cultured T-cells with *at*RA not only induced Tregs but also helped to maintain Foxp3 expression. Both increased induction and decreased apoptosis of Tregs due to the TGF- β and *at*RA treatment combination explains this finding. The *at*RA is acting on the RAR rather than the RXR signaling pathway. This study also found that *at*RA-induced TGF- β Tregs exhibited an enhanced suppressive Tcell response and ameliorated lupus syndromes in a GVHD animal model. The data suggest that *at*RA affects TGF- β signaling rather than the other way around, and RA alone, without TGF- β , cannot induce Tregs. *at*RA significantly increases histone modification, including methylation and acetylation, but does not affect DNA demethylation in the Foxp3 gene (Lu et al., 2011). This study is thorough and well done, but its weakness is that it is an animal cytology study.

In their histological mouse model of colitis study, Nguyen, Pearson, Kim, Kamdar, and DePaolo (2015) evaluated the effects of RA on extracted lymphocytes and dendritic cells during intestinal injury. They induced colitis in the mice selected for the study and then assessed the mice for the clinical and histological signs of colitis. They killed the mice, took colon tissue samples, and removed the spleens to get purified Tlymphocytic cells and dendritic cells. They used the purified lymphocytes and dendritic cells for either treatment with 10 nM of RA or no treatment, and subsequent evaluation for the various cytokines and cell markers using specific antibodies and flow cytometry. They found that RA treatment enhances TLR2-dependent IL-10 production from T-cells and this potentiates Foxp3+ IL-10+ Treg generation without the need for the activation of antigen-presenting cells, inhibiting colonic disease. In the absence of TLR2, RA signaling switches from a tolerogenic one to a pro-inflammatory one. The authors suggest that the combination of RA and TLR2 ligands should be considered in the design of therapies to treat autoimmune or inflammatory diseases, but caution against treating patients with inflammatory diseases with vitamin A alone, as it can aggravate inflammation (Nguyen, Pearson, Kim, Kamdar, & DePaolo, 2015). This in-vitro cytological mouse model gives some great insight into the molecular mechanisms of RA

action in immune system regulation, but these molecular mechanisms may be different in humans.

In their mouse model study, Hall et al. (2011) examined the role of RA in the promotion of CD4+ T cell effector responses. Mice were purchased and either fed a vitamin A-deficient or sufficient diet, which was also purchased. The vitamin A-deficient mice were given a total of 250 μ g of *at*RA intraperitoneally every other day. Then 24 hours after the third atRA injection, the mice were either infected with T. gondii or vaccinated. The team harvested tissue samples, assessed T-cell phenotypes using flow cytometry with the appropriate fluorescent antibodies, and analyzed protein complexes using immunoblotting. They found that RA is necessary to induce pro-inflammatory CD4+ T cell responses to infection and vaccination. They were also able to uncover that RARa was the critical mediator of these effects. They demonstrated that the loss of vitamin A compromised mucosal Th1 and Th17 cell responses to infection and vaccination and that treatment with RA rapidly restores mucosal Th1 and Th17 responses. The finding highlights the fundamental role of the RA-RAR α axis in mediating both the regulatory and inflammatory responses of the adaptive immune system, and the importance of nutritional status as a broad regulator of T-cell responses (Hall, Cannons, et al., 2011). The weakness of this study is that the RA-RARα axis also exists in antigen-presenting cells and affects their function, which could have an indirect effect on T-cell function, indicating that this axis could modify both the innate and the adaptive immune systems.

In their RCT, placebo-controlled clinical trial in 84 obese and non-obese women, Farhangi et al. (2013) demonstrated that vitamin A treatment significantly reduced serum concentrations of IL-1 β (a pro-inflammatory cytokine) in obese women. Obese women were randomly allocated to receive either 25,000 IU per day of retinyl palmitate or placebo. Nonobese women also received 25,000 IU of retinyl palmitate. The team assessed anthropometric variables, and serum IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-4, and IL-13 were analyzed at baseline and 4-months after intervention. They found a reduction in IL-1 β in vitamin A-treated obese women. The decrease in IL-1 β after vitamin A supplementation is due to its ability to reduce IL-1 β gene expression. Serum concentrations of IL-4 and IL-13 (anti-inflammatory cytokines) were also significantly reduced in obese and nonobese vitamin A-treated women, possibly due to a counterregulatory feedback mechanism in which the lowering of the pro-inflammatory IL-1 β leads to a decreased need for the anti-inflammatory cytokines. The weakness of their study lies in the fact that there is a need to establish whether IL-4 and IL-13 are increased in the white adipose tissue of obese participants to confirm this hypothesis. They suggest that because of its immune regulating effects, vitamin A could reduce the risk of autoimmune disease in obese women (Farhangi, Keshavarz, Eshraghian, Ostadrahimi, & Saboor-Yaraghi, 2013).

Immune Homeostasis

Erkelens and Mebius reviewed 100 articles to evaluate the effect of retinoic acid on immune homeostasis. RA is a central molecule in the orchestration of the immune system response, and dendritic cells (DCs) and macrophages produce it. DC precursors require RA to express the gut homing molecules that allow them to reach the lamina 55 propria of the intestine and the GALT. Once there, RA is necessary for them to maintain a tolerogenic response. In the GALT, the RA produced by the DCs and macrophages will induce B and T cells to express their gut homing molecules. RA can also induce gut homing molecules on ILCs1 and 3, and IgA class switching in B cells. Certain combinations of inflammatory signals can induce RA production via ALDH expression in DCs and macrophages. This concept implies that the microenvironment determines the expression of the enzymes needed to produce RA. DCs and macrophages can get RA from the intestinal environment, particularly the small intestine (Erkelens & Mebius, 2017).

RA also modulates T-cell responses. During steady state, the RA produced by DCs inhibits the differentiation of naïve T-cells into Th17 cells by blocking certain interleukins, allowing them to mature into Tregs instead. During infection, other molecular signals counter the inhibition of this differentiation and, thus, produce Th17 cells. Additionally, under the condition of infection, RA can induce a pro-inflammatory phenotype in DCs. When IL-6 and TGF- β stimulate a naïve T-cell, it becomes a Th17 cell. RA can block IL-6 and prevent this conversion. If RA and TGF- β stimulate a naïve T-cell, it becomes a Treg. If RA and IL-4 stimulate it, it becomes a Th2 cell, and if it is RA, INF- γ , and IL-12 stimulate it, it becomes a Th1 cell. Therefore, RA is essential for both a tolerogenic response and for a proper Th1, Th2, and Th17 response (Erkelens & Mebius, 2017).

Oliveira, Teixeira, and Sato (2018) review 185 articles to elucidate the effect of RA on innate and adaptive immunity with an emphasis on inflammatory conditions. DCs

mediate the balance between tolerogenic and effector immune responses. The CD103⁺ DCs are the tolerogenic ones, and they respond to RA to induce Foxp3+ Tregs that produce the anti-inflammatory IL-10, and B and T-cell migration to the gut. The CD103⁻ DCs are the inflammatory DCs that do not require RA, promote the differentiation of INF- γ -producing T cells, and produce inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-6. RA also favors the homing of ILCs 1 and 3 to the gut. In NK cells, RA also acts to favor tolerance and suppress NK cell cytotoxicity activated by INF- α . RA plays a vital role in the humoral response and is essential for B-cell production of IgA. RA is a cofactor that is important for the stimulation and proliferation of B-cells; it accelerates the maturation of human B-cells and their conversion into plasma cells. RA may also increase IgM and IgG synthesis. In the T-cell line, high levels of RA promote the differentiation of Th2 cells and inhibit the Th1 phenotype. However, RA is essential for the stability and maintenance of Th1 cells, repressing ROR γ t which induces the Th17 phenotype (Oliveira et al., 2018).

During inflammatory states, RA can attenuate inflammation by increasing IL-22 production by ILC3 and $\gamma\delta$ T-cells in the gut. In ulcerative colitis, upregulation of the RA degrading enzyme CYP26 reduces colonic RA levels and leads to tumorigenesis. Treatment with *at*RA decreases the tumor burden. Ulcerative colitis and Crohn's patients often have low serum retinol levels, likely due to a lack of absorption. The authors note that RA administration should be an adjuvant treatment for inflammatory diseases. They also note that RA administration in Multiple Sclerosis patients shifts the T-cell balance towards tolerance and away from inflammation. There is also evidence that RA has
neuroprotective effects in those patients. Topical retinoids are also used in the treatment of psoriasis due to their anti-inflammatory effects (Oliveira et al., 2018).

Retinol and Hashimoto's Thyroiditis

Liu et al. (2016) evaluated the function of $\gamma\delta$ T-cells in the thyroid tissue of patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT). They enrolled 148 participants: 99 with HT, five with simple goiters, and 44 healthy controls. The team obtained peripheral blood and thyroid samples from all the participants. They used flow cytometry to analyze peripheral blood and thyroid mononuclear cells. They tested thyroid tissues via immunofluorescent staining and immunohistochemistry for $\gamma\delta$ T-cells and anti-thyroid antibody detection. The team used an ELISA and an automated chemiluminescent assay Antibody production. They measured the activation and apoptosis of peripheral $\gamma\delta$ T-cells and B-cells by flow cytometry. They found that the percentage of $\gamma\delta$ T-cells was higher in the thyroid tissue of HT patients than that of goiter patients. The proportion of $\gamma\delta$ T-cells in the CD3+ T-cell population reached 55%, indicating that they play an essential role in HT (Liu et al., 2016).

Additionally, the $\gamma\delta$ T-cells of HT patients expressed the activation markers CD69 and HLA-DR, and the CD40L (which regulates production of B-cells, Ig class switching and antibody production) and ICOS cell markers with significantly higher frequency than the healthy controls. Moreover, the $\gamma\delta$ T-cells of HT patients enhanced B-cells for antibody production. *at*RA treatment of those cells inhibited the antibody production effect by inducing apoptosis of the $\gamma\delta T$ -cells but had no direct effect on the B-cells (Liu et al., 2016).

Interestingly, *at*RA targets the activated HT $\gamma\delta$ T-cells for apoptosis but not the non-activated ones. However, it is still unclear whether $\gamma\delta$ T-cells also help mediate autoantibody production in HT. The authors conclude that $\gamma\delta$ T-cells might play an essential role in the development of anti-thyroid autoantibodies in HT patients and *at*RA administration could be used to manipulate $\gamma\delta$ T-cell activation and apoptosis (Liu et al., 2016). The weakness of this study is that they incubated the culture of $\gamma\delta$ T-cells with *at*RA, a method that may not reflect the finely-tuned local control of *at*RA production. The study does give a direction for future research, opening the door for exploring vitamin A as a potential dietary treatment modality for HT.

In conclusion, retinol has diverse effects on the immune system and thyroid metabolism, effects that are under tight regulation at the tissue level, and which vary depending on the immunological microenvironment. It could potentially modulate the progression of HT and could play a role in its treatment. However, the evidence is sparse, and more research is needed. Therefore, the goal of this study is to establish, as groundwork, whether serum retinol levels in HT patients are significantly different from patients who do not have HT. The hypothesis is that the retinol levels in HT participants are not lower than that of healthy (non-HT) participants. Additionally, a secondary goal of the study is to explore any relationships between retinol and TSH levels in the entire sample, and retinol and thyroid antibody levels in the HT participants.

CHAPTER 3: METHODS

Study Design

This retrospective case-controlled study was executed using a database of patient information gathered form the Health Matters Clinic in Jonesboro, AR. This database was obtained during a previous IRB-approved study conducted at Arkansas State University in 2014. Approval was granted by Dr. Stacy Walz, the chair of the Clinical Laboratory Sciences Department at Arkansas State University, for the use of that database for this dissertation project. First, database entries were screened for retinol levels, then for inclusion and exclusion criteria for each group. Then, randomization was executed separately for each group using the number randomizer found at this URL: https://andrew.hedges.name/experiments/random/. The 26 charts that were randomly selected for each group were then used for the study. The University of Bridgeport Institutional Review Board approved this study, and it was also approved by the Arkansas State University Institutional Review Board in August 2019 (Exemption 45 CFR 46, 104(d)(4) from UB).

Database Selection Criteria

This database included 229 non-pregnant female patients between the ages of 18 and 65. The database did not contain retinol levels in all the patient entries. Therefore, all entries that did not contain a retinol level were first excluded from the study. The elimination of those entries reduced the number from 229 to 103 entries.

For the Hashimoto's Thyroiditis group (HT), inclusion criteria were database patient entries with either or both positive thyroid peroxidase (TPO) antibody and positive thyroglobulin (TG) antibody. The application of these criteria allocated 41 patients to that group. The exclusion criteria included any patient on documented thyroid medication, such as levothyroxine or Synthroid. The rationale behind using thyroid medication as an exclusion criterion is that it increases the conversion of β -carotene to retinol (Aktuna et al., 1993). The application of this criterion excluded nine patients, leaving 32 entries in the HT group. Twenty-six entries were randomized from those entries. (See Figure 6)

For the control group (non-HT), the inclusion criteria were database patient entries that were negative for TPO and TG antibodies (62 entries) and had a normal thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH). The application of the inclusion criteria resulted in 59 entries remaining in the control group. The exclusion criteria for the control group included any database patients that have thyroid issues, take thyroid medication, or were diagnosed with an autoimmune disease. Both thyroid dysfunction and autoimmunity can affect retinol levels (Abdelhamid & Luo, 2018; Aktuna et al., 1993). The application of this criterion excluded seven patients that either had thyroid issues or were on documented thyroid medication and three patients that had a documented autoimmune disease. These were Celiac Disease, Myasthenia Gravis, and Multiple Sclerosis. Twenty-six entries were randomized from the remaining forty-nine database entries for the control group. (See Figure 6)



Figure 6. Selection Flow Chart

Data Collection

The data collected from all selected charts were: (a) retinol levels in mcg/dL; (b) age in years; (c) TSH in μ IU/mL; (d) T4 in mcg/dL; (e) T3 in ng/dL; (f) free T4 in ng/dL; (g) free T3 in pg/mL; (h) reverse T3 ng/dL; (i) TPO antibodies in IU/mL; (j) TG antibodies in IU/mL; (k) vitamin D in ng/mL; (l) gluten IgG in mcg/mL; (m) dairy IgG in mcg/mL; (n) multivitamin use. The aim of collecting all these data was to characterize each group and potentially ascertain differences in gut permeability issues (as evidenced by the presence of food antibodies), which could affect retinol levels. Retinol levels were the independent variable used to compare the HT and non-HT groups. Retinol and TSH levels were used to determine the potential correlation between thyroid function and retinol levels within the entire sample (all 52 patient entries), using retinol as the independent variable and TSH as the dependent variable. Retinol levels (independent variable) and TPO antibody levels (dependent variable) were used to determine if any correlation existed between these variables in the HT group in one analysis. Additionally, retinol levels (independent variable) and TG antibody levels (dependent variable) were used to determine any correlation between those variables within the HT group, in a separate analysis.

Statistics Analysis

Intellectus Statistics ® was used for all statistical calculations. Firstly, each group was characterized as to their average value (group mean) or percentage for each of these variables: (a) retinol levels in mcg/dL; (b) age in years; (c) TSH in µIU/mL; (d) T4 in

mcg/dL; (e) T3 in ng/dL; (f) free T4 in ng/dL; (g) free T3 in pg/mL; (h) reverse T3 ng/dL; (i) TPO antibodies in IU/mL; (j) TG antibodies in IU/mL; (k) vitamin D in ng/mL; (l) gluten IgG in mcg/mL; (m) dairy IgG in mcg/mL; (n) multivitamin use. The independent sample t-test was used to determine if there were any statistically significant differences between each group for each of these variables. There were some expected differences between the groups, such as in the thyroid function tests. Some of these data were included in the group characterization because they could be confounders, such as vitamin D, food antibodies, and multivitamin use.

Secondly, for the independent sample t-test evaluating the difference in retinol between HT and non-HT groups, a power analysis was conducted in G*Power to determine a sufficient sample size using an alpha of 0.05, a power of 0.80, a large effect size (d = 0.8), and two tails (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2013). There was an equal allocation of participants into each group. Based on the mentioned assumptions, the desired sample size was 52 (26 in each group). For the various correlation calculations (retinol and TSH in the sample, retinol and TPO antibodies in HT group and retinol and TG antibodies in HT group), a power analysis for a Pearson correlation was conducted in G*Power to determine a sufficient sample size with an alpha of 0.05, a power of 0.80, a large effect size (p = .5), and two tails (Faul et al., 2013). Based on the mentioned assumptions, the desired sample size was 26, which is the number of randomly selected entries in the HT group. Statistical calculations from the data entries were executed with Intellectus Statistics [®]. These were: (a) an independent sample t-test evaluating the difference in retinol between HT and non-HT groups; (b) a Pearson's correlation evaluating the relationship between retinol and TSH in the entire sample; (c) a Pearson's correlation evaluating the relationship between retinol and TPO antibodies in the HT group; and (d) a Pearson's correlation evaluating the relationship between retinol and TG antibodies in the HT group.

Outcomes Measured

The first outcome measured was the database retinol levels in mcg/dL for each participant, after allocation into their respective groups. The next outcome measured was the database TSH levels in μ IU/mL for all participants, and its correlation to their retinol levels. The third and fourth outcomes measured were the database TPO and TG antibody levels, respectively, in IU/mL, for the HT group and its correlation to their retinol levels.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND FINDINGS

Introduction

Due to its immune-modulating properties, there is a potential therapeutic role for retinol in autoimmune diseases. Therefore, the following statistical analyses aim to ascertain whether serum retinol levels in Hashimoto's thyroiditis patients are significantly different from patients who do not have Hashimoto's thyroiditis. The hypothesis is that the retinol levels in HT participants are lower than that of healthy (non-HT) participants. The study and the following statistical analyses aim to establish some groundwork for the potential use of vitamin A supplementation in the treatment of HT. Additionally, a secondary goal of the study is to explore any relationships between retinol and TSH levels in the entire sample, and retinol and thyroid antibody levels in the HT participants, as they each could potentially be influenced by retinol status. All statistical calculations were performed with Intellectus Statistics ®, and their provided interpretations and commentaries on each were used to interpret the results. The detailed descriptive statistics for each group, the retinol independent samples t-test, and the various Pearson correlations are in the paragraphs that follow. The database used was in an Excel file, and the data were extracted and formatted as needed for the calculations.

Summary of Collected Data

Data collected from the database for the Hashimoto's thyroiditis group and the non-Hashimoto's thyroiditis group were (a) retinol levels in mcg/dL; (b) age in years; (c) TSH in µIU/mL; (d) T4 in mcg/dL; (e) T3 in ng/dL; (f) free T4 in ng/dL; (g) free T3 in 66 pg/mL; (h) reverse T3 ng/dL; (i) TPO antibodies in IU/mL; (j) TG antibodies in IU/mL; (k) vitamin D in ng/mL; (l) gluten IgG in mcg/mL; (m) dairy IgG in mcg/mL; (n) multivitamin use. The database used came from the Health Matters Clinic in Jonesboro, AR, a small integrative health clinic in a town of 60,000 inhabitants, that is also serving a large rural area. The original data was collected in 2014 and used for a previous study regarding the predictive value of reverse T3 measurements.

Descriptive Findings

Each group was characterized by the previously-mentioned parameters and compared using a two-tailed paired samples t-test. Table 1 displays the findings from the descriptive analysis. Normal ranges for each test are also indicated in Table 1, where appropriate, as are the calculated p-values.

The observations for age had an average of 40.77 years for the HT group (SD = 12.80, range = 18.00 - 61.00) and 40.92 years for the non-HT group (SD = 11.83, range = 19.00 - 65.00). The result of the two-tailed paired samples *t*-test for the age of the participants was not significant based on an alpha value of 0.05 and a *p*-value of .967, which suggests the difference in the means of the age in years was not significantly different from zero. The observations for retinol had an average of 54.04 mcg/dL for the HT group (SD = 19.54, range = 30.00 - 96.00) and 53.81 mcg/dL for the non-HT group (SD = 14.82, range = 37.00 - 95.00). It is worth noting that the variation around the mean (SD) is slightly larger in the HT group. The result of the two-tailed paired samples *t*-test for retinol was not significant based on an alpha value of 0.05 and a *p*-value of .956,

which suggests that the difference between the means was not significantly different from zero.

The observations for TSH had an average of 9.45 μ IU/mL for the HT group (SD = 37.87, range = 0.68 - 195.00) and 1.56 μ IU/mL for the non-HT group (SD = 0.78, range = 0.49 - 3.04). The variance around the mean is much larger in the HT group than the non-HT group, with a higher SD and a wider range. The result of the two-tailed paired samples *t*-test was not significant based on an alpha value of 0.05 and a *p*-value of .300, which suggests the difference in the TSH means was not significantly different from zero. The observations for T4 had an average of 8.41 mcg/dL for the HT group (SD = 1.59, range = 6.60 - 14.00) and 8.20 mcg/dL for the non-HT group (SD = 2.16, range = 5.20 - 5.2016.60). The result of the two-tailed paired samples *t*-test was not significant based on an alpha value of 0.05 and a *p*-value of .687, which suggests the difference in the T4 means was not significantly different from zero. The observations for T3 had an average of 110.08 ng/dL for the HT group (SD = 21.79, range = 75.00 - 182.00) and 104.19 ng/dL for the non-HT group (SD = 37.75, range = 58.00 - 249.00). The result of the two-tailed paired samples *t*-test was not significant based on an alpha value of 0.05 and a *p*-value of .517, which suggests the difference in the T3 means was not significantly different from zero. The observations for fT4 had an average of 1.12 ng/dL for the HT group (SD = 0.12, range = 0.90 - 1.40) and 1.15 ng/dL for the non-HT group (SD = 0.14, range = 0.90) - 1.50). The result of the two-tailed paired samples *t*-test was not significant based on an alpha value of 0.05 and a *p*-value of .349, which suggests the difference in the fT4 means was not significantly different from zero. The observations for fT3 had an average of

3.07 pg/mL for the HT group (SD = 0.28, range = 2.40 - 3.80) and 3.03 pg/mL for the non-HT group (SD = 0.34, range = 2.60 - 3.90). The result of the two-tailed paired samples *t*-test was not significant based on an alpha value of 0.05 and a *p*-value of .600, which suggests the difference in the fT3 means was not significantly different from zero. The observations for rT3 had an average of 20.31 ng/dL for the HT group (SD = 6.29, range = 13.00 - 36.00) and 23.92 ng/dL for the non-HT group (SD = 8.59, range = 10.00 - 100045.00). The result of the two-tailed paired samples *t*-test was not significant based on an alpha value of 0.05 and a p-value of .112, which suggests the difference in the rT3 means was not significantly different from zero. The observations for TPO had an average of 81.96 IU/mL for the HT group (SD = 223.28, range = 0.00 - 1000.00) and 0.00 IU/mL for the non-HT-group (SD = 0.00). A *t*-test could not be calculated because one of the group's TPO means is zero. The observations for TG had an average of 5.85 IU/mL for the HT group (SD = 15.21, range = 0.00 - 51.00) and 0.00 IU/mL for the non-HT-group (SD = 0.00). A t-test could not be calculated because one of the group's TG means is zero.

The observations for vitamin D had an average of 36.04 ng/mL for the HT group (SD = 12.75, range = 17.00 - 67.00) and 33.27 ng/mL for the non-HT group (SD = 11.09, range = 12.00 - 55.00). The result of the two-tailed paired samples *t*-test was not significant based on an alpha value of 0.05 and a *p*-value of .438, which suggests the difference in the vitamin D means was not significantly different from zero. The observations for gluten antibodies had an average of 16.20 mcg/mL for the HT group (SD = 39.82, range = 0.00 - 200.00) and 10.17 mcg/mL for the non-HT group (SD = 23.77, range = 23.77)

range = 0.00 - 119.00). The result of the two-tailed paired samples *t*-test was not significant based on an alpha value of 0.05 and a *p*-value of .220, which suggests the difference in the gluten antibody means was not significantly different from zero. The observations for dairy antibodies had an average of 20.86 mcg/mL for the HT group (SD = 6.86, range = 10.60 - 30.00) and 16.77 mcg/mL for the non-HT group (SD = 6.68, range = 9.18 - 30.00). The result of the two-tailed paired samples *t*-test was significant based on an alpha value of 0.05 and a *p-value* of .036, indicating the null hypothesis can be rejected. This finding suggests that the difference in the means of dairy antibodies was significantly different from zero. The mean of the non-HT group was significantly lower than the mean of the HT group. The observations for multivitamin intake had an average of 12% for regular intake for the HT group (SD = 33) and 38% for the non-HT group (SD = 50). The result of the two-tailed paired samples *t*-test was significant based on an alpha value of 0.05 and a *p*-value of .016, indicating the null hypothesis can be rejected. This finding suggests that the difference in the means of multivitamin intake was significantly different from zero. The mean of the non-HT group was significantly higher than the mean of the HT group.

The groups were similar in almost all parameters. Because it was a selection criterion, the HT group had elevated levels of both thyroid antibodies, whereas the non-HT group's levels were zero for both. The only other significant differences found between the groups were dairy antibodies and multivitamin use. The HT group had significantly higher levels of dairy antibodies, and the non-HT group had significantly higher multivitamin use. TSH levels were higher in the HT group, but not significantly so. Gluten antibodies were also higher in the HT group, but again, not significantly.

	Normal	HT		Non-HT		р-
Parameters	ranges	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	values
Age (years)	N/A	40.77	12.80	40.92	11.83	.967
Retinol (mcg/dL)	38-98	54.04	19.54	53.81	14.82	.956
TSH (µIU/mL)	0.465-4.68	9.45	37.87	1.56	0.78	.300
T4 (mcg/dL)	5.1-11.9	8.41	1.59	8.20	2.16	.687
T3 (ng/dL)	76-181	110.08	21.79	104.19	37.75	.517
fT4 (ng/dL)	0.8-1.8	1.12	0.12	1.15	0.14	.349
fT3 (pg/mL)	2.3-4.2	3.07	0.28	3.03	0.34	.600
rT3 (ng/dL)	8-25	20.31	6.29	23.92	8.59	.112
TPO aby (IU/mL)	≤9	81.96	223.28	0	0	_*
TG aby (IU/mL)	≤1	5.85	15.21	0	0	_*
Vitamin D (ng/mL)	30-100	36.04	12.75	33.27	11.09	.438
Gluten IgG (mcg/mL)	<2.0	16.20	39.82	10.17	23.77	.220
Dairy IgG (mcg/mL)	<0.15	20.86	6.86	16.77	6.68	.036**
Multivitamin (% of group						
taking)	N/A	12%	_*	38%	_*	.016**

Table 1. HT and non-HT Group Characteristics

*not calculated ***p*<0.05

Out-of-range values are in **bold**

Results

The two-tailed independent samples t-test was conducted to examine whether the mean level of retinol was significantly different between the subjects classified as having Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT group) and those classified as not having it (non-HT group). The analysis revealed that the difference was not significant based on an alpha value of 0.05 and a p-value of .962. (see Figure 7).



Figure 7. Retinol: HT vs. non-HT

Pearson's correlation between retinol and TSH levels for the entire sample was calculated next. Cohen's standard was used to evaluate the strength of the relationship, where coefficients between .10 and .29 represented a small effect size, coefficients between .30 and .49 represented a moderate effect size, and coefficients above .50 represented a large effect size (Cohen, 1988). The correlation was examined based on an alpha value of 0.05. A significant positive correlation was observed between retinol and TSH, with a correlation coefficient of 0.44, indicating a moderate effect size. This correlation indicates that as retinol increases, TSH tends to increase (see Figure 8).



Figure 8. Correlations Between Retinol and TSH

Then, Pearson's correlation analysis was conducted between retinol and TPO antibody levels in the HT group only. Cohen's standards, as described in the previous paragraph, were used again to evaluate the strength of the relationship. The correlations were examined based on an alpha value of 0.05. There were no significant correlations found between retinol and TPO antibody levels (see Figure 9). The correlation coefficient calculated at -0.19. The same analysis, with the same parameters, was repeated for retinol and TG antibody levels in the HT group. Again, there were no significant correlations found between retinol and TG antibody levels in the HT group. Again, there were no significant correlations found between retinol and TG antibody levels in the HT group. Again, there were no significant correlations found between retinol and TG antibody levels in the HT group. Again, there were no significant correlations found between retinol and TG antibody levels (see Figure 10). The correlation coefficient calculated as 0.08.



Figure 9. Correlations Between Retinol and TPO Antibody Levels



Figure 10. Correlations Between Retinol and TG Antibody Levels

Summary

The statistical analyses performed on the selected data revealed that there were no significant differences in mean retinol levels between the Hashimoto's thyroiditis group and the non-Hashimoto's thyroiditis group. Therefore, at this time, there is insufficient evidence that there is a significant relationship between retinol and HT because the *p*-value was not significant. However, Pearson's correlation calculations demonstrated a moderate positive correlation between retinol and TSH levels in the entire sample. Indicating that as retinol levels increase, TSH levels tend to increase also. At this time, no correlations were found between retinol and either thyroid antibody levels within the HT group. The groups were similar in most characteristics described. TSH levels were higher in the HT group, but not significantly so. As expected, thyroid antibody levels were elevated in the HT group and non-existent in the non-HT group. Additionally, the HT group demonstrated higher levels of gluten antibodies (but not significantly) and significantly higher levels of dairy antibodies and the non-HT group had significantly more participants that took a multivitamin.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Introduction

This study aimed to establish whether there was a significant difference between retinol levels in patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) as compared to patients that do not have Hashimoto's thyroiditis. Some patients with autoimmune disease demonstrate low levels of retinol, such as Multiple Sclerosis patients, and benefit from retinol supplementation (Dorosty-Motlagh et al., 2016). Therefore, it would be beneficial to examine the retinol status in other autoimmune diseases. This study used an already established database of patients' lab results from the Health Matters Clinic in Jonesboro, Arkansas, which had an appropriate number of patients with positive thyroid autoantibodies indicative of HT, to examine retinol levels and its relationship to a few HT markers.

The statistical analysis revealed no significant difference in retinol levels between patients with HT and patients who do not have HT. However, it revealed a moderate positive correlation between retinol and TSH levels in the entire sample, with high TSH levels correlating to higher (but still within normal range) retinol levels. Additionally, the examination of the HT group for a correlation between retinol and thyroid antibodies levels found no correlations between retinol and either thyroid antibody levels (antithyroid peroxidase and anti-thyroglobulin antibodies). The analysis of the groups' characteristics failed to reveal a statistically significant difference in the TSH levels between the groups, although the HT group did demonstrate higher levels of TSH than the non-HT group, as expected. Additionally, this analysis revealed higher levels of gluten antibodies in the HT group (but not significantly so), significantly higher levels of dairy antibodies in the HT group, and that significantly more participants took a multivitamin in the non-HT group.

Interpretation of the Findings

Even though the initial expectation of this study was that HT patients would have lower retinol levels than non-HT patients, the findings did not prove the hypothesis. Researching the literature and thinking through this process did reveal some interesting information. The first point is that serum retinol levels do not accurately reflect liver vitamin A storage status. Homeostatic mechanisms keep serum retinol levels constant and only drop when liver stores are near depletion (Tanumihardjo et al., 2016). Additionally, the tissue microenvironment is more likely to determine the local retinol availability and vary by organ or tissue location. The second point is that retinol status did not correlate with autoantibody levels in HT; other mechanisms might be at play in this process. The third point is that there are several levels, or classifications, of HT and the representation of each level in the HT group could be a significant factor in the relationship between retinol and HT. The fourth point is that higher serum retinol levels are correlated to higher TSH levels, but that relationship is not consistent in this data set, meaning that some data points have low retinol and high TSH. The fifth point is that taking a multivitamin may be protective against HT. Lastly, retinol's involvement in the HT disease process might be from the relationship between retinol, gut health, and the autoimmune process.

76

To the point that serum retinol does not accurately reflect vitamin A liver reserves, a study by Olsen et al. (2018) examined the relationship between liver stores of vitamin A (VA) and serum biomarkers and found that serum retinol concentrations of patients that had hypervitaminosis A (evidenced by a total liver reserve of \geq 1.0 µmol VA/g) were not different from those who had hypovitaminosis A (evidenced by a total liver reserve of <0.1 µmol VA/g). This University of Wisconsin-Madison team examined 27 cadavers and found a wide variety of total liver vitamin A reserves. The distribution was approximately 22% vitamin A deficient (<0.1 µmol VA/g), 44% vitamin A adequate (0.1-0.7 µmol VA/g) and 37% vitamin A excess (\geq 1.0 µmol VA/g with one patient between 0.7 and 1.0 µmol VA/g) (Olsen et al., 2018). The homeostatic mechanism that regulates serum retinol levels is tightly regulated to keep those levels constant across a range of liver vitamin A reserves, and therefore, they are not the best choice to assess liver vitamin A status. Serum retinol levels only correlate to liver vitamin A stores when those storage levels are deficient (Tanumihardjo et al., 2016).

The study team did find that although they did not correlate to serum retinol, total liver reserves of vitamin A did positively correlate to serum retinyl esters. Therefore, it is possible that serum retinyl esters, as a percent of total vitamin A, is a better biomarker of liver vitamin A reserves. This test has been used to evaluate vitamin A toxicity, but it has not been validated against total liver reserves in human studies (Olsen et al., 2018). Stable retinol isotope dilution (RID) can provide an accurate estimate of total liver retinol, but it is not suitable for population evaluations because it involves the administration of ¹³C-labeled retinyl acetate and its subsequent measurement 14 to 21

days later (Tanumihardjo et al., 2016). Retinol binding protein (RBP) levels can also serve as a biomarker of vitamin A status but, although their synthesis by the liver is constant, they are negatively affected by inflammation. The relative dose-response test (RDR) and the newer modified relative dose-response test (MRDR) rely on the hepatic accumulation of apo-RBP during vitamin A inadequacy. Hepatic RBP synthesis is independent of vitamin A status, but its release from the liver is dependent on its status. When vitamin A intake is inadequate, the liver accumulates apo-RBP. The administration of a dose of vitamin A during a deficiency state leads to the administered retinol being quickly bound up by apo-RBP in the liver, which then becomes holo-RBP and causes a rise in plasma retinol levels. The RDR test involves getting blood samples before and five hours after an oral dose of retinyl esters and calculating the RDR value as a percentage based on those results. The MRDR uses a challenge dose of vitamin A_2 acetate, directly followed by a fatty snack to ensure absorption, and a single blood draw for serum retinol and 3,4-didehydroretinol (DR, the vitamin A₂ metabolite) four to seven hours later. Then, those two values are used to calculate the ratio of retinol to DR (Tanumihardjo et al., 2016). These are time-consuming and not practical for population screening either.

Physiologic methods for vitamin A status assessment include the classical dark adaptation test, which uses a cumbersome and expensive adaptometer and requires a controlled clinical setting, but the results will be abnormal in subclinical vitamin A deficiency before symptoms of night blindness occur. There is a version of the standard dark adaptation test that is easier to administer. The test is called the rapid dark adaptation test, and it requires simple equipment but needs further validation. The rapid dark adaptation test might prove more valuable and cost-effective than serum retinol levels, which are only low when liver reserves are near depletion. Although not widely used, pupillary threshold testing is another option. It is an objective test of the darkadapted pupillary reflex (Russell, 2000; Tanumihardjo et al., 2016).

Another factor to consider is that serum retinol levels do not reflect retinoic acid (RA) activity at the cellular and tissue level. Once retinol has entered into the cell, it can be converted into retinoic acid and activate more than 500 retinoid-responsive genes in any given cell (Bono et al., 2016; Napoli, 2012; Oliveira et al., 2018). However, the intracellular availability of the RALDH enzymes strictly regulates this conversion to active RA (Hall, Grainger, et al., 2011; Oliveira et al., 2018). Additionally, cytochrome P450 enzymes can degrade RA (Erkelens & Mebius, 2017; Oliveira et al., 2018). Therefore, the fate of retinol once it enters any given cell is subject to control mechanisms from its microenvironment, and serum retinol levels are unable to provide that information.

To address the observation that retinol status did not correlate with autoantibody levels in HT, one could refer back to the previous paragraph about cellular and tissue level regulation of RA, but there are a few things worth mentioning. Vitamin A does affect antibody production and the regulation of B-cell activity. Adequate vitamin A levels support the production of IgG, IgM, and IgA and enhance the immune response during infection, but retinol acts in the context of other cell-signaling cues, such as those of cytokines (Huang, Liu, Qi, Brand, & Zheng, 2018; Mora, Iwata, & von Andrian, 2008). Therefore, the immune system does not solely react to cellular retinol levels, but takes the whole cytokine "picture" into account. Because retinol can support antibody production, one could then argue that adequate retinol levels support autoantibody production. However, no relationship was found between retinol levels and autoantibody levels, therefore, retinol levels alone could not predict a rise or drop in autoantibodies, in the context of HT.

Additionally, antigen stimulation of immune cells through specific IgE antibodies results in a hypersensitivity response that is involved in most autoimmune diseases, and experiments have shown that *at*RA has an IgE repressive effect through action on RAR α with the help of IL-10. More specifically, 9-*cis*RA can modulate established IgE responses by downregulating them and increasing specific IgA responses, which provide homeostasis to the immune system (Huang et al., 2018). RA can also enhance immune homeostasis and self-tolerance by enhancing the Treg and Breg response. However, the mechanism by which it regulates Breg activity is still unknown at this time (Huang et al., 2018).

Moreover, RA inhibits B-cell apoptosis, favoring their proliferation (Mora et al., 2008). In the context of HT, Liu et al. (2016) found that atRA treatment inhibited the effects of HT specific $\gamma\delta$ T-cells on B-cells for antibody production by inducing the apoptosis of those $\gamma\delta$ T-cells. Therefore, the influence of serum retinol on antibody and autoantibody production is complex and dependent on multiple cues that are specific to the tissue microenvironment and disease process. These cannot be ascertained by simple

measurement of serum retinol levels, as they do not reflect the HT, thyroid-specific microenvironment.

The HT group composition after randomization might also have been an issue. The criterion that was used to include patients in the HT group was the presence of either, or both, anti-thyroid peroxidase or anti-thyroglobulin antibodies, which are diagnostic for HT. Some of these patients had normal TSH levels with elevated levels of one or both thyroid autoantibodies, while others had elevated TSH levels with elevated thyroid autoantibodies. This group heterogeneity reflects the various levels of thyroid hypofunction that can be seen in HT. Clinical manifestations of HT can range from diffuse or nodular goiter with euthyroidism, or subclinical hypothyroidism (mild TSH elevation with T4 levels in the normal range), to overt hypothyroidism (TSH elevation with low thyroid hormones) (Farhangi et al., 2012; Liontiris & Mazokopakis, 2017). The current study group did not have enough participants to allow further subclassification by HT clinical manifestation and still achieve statistical significance in the analyses. Additionally, euthyroid participants seem to be overrepresented. In the future, the work could be replicated with a higher number of participants allowing for statistical analysis by HT classification.

The positive correlation between retinol and TSH appears novel and important, and needs validation with more data. Only a few participants had both a retinol value on the high end of normal and a higher than normal TSH, and one had an extremely high TSH. It is a possibility that those values drove the correlation, which is why it needs validation with a bigger study. Additionally, some patients had a retinol value on the high end of normal and a normal TSH. Farhangi et al. (2012) found that supplementing with vitamin A downregulates TSH-β gene expression at the pituitary, lowering serum TSH levels, raising serum T3, and lowering serum T4. The Farhangi randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled study did not measure serum retinol levels pre- and postintervention, but instead they measured all the serum thyroid markers. Their study did also not include patients with autoimmune thyroid disorders such as HT. Additionally, Aktuna et al. (1993) remarked that retinol deficiencies could be present in both hyperand hypothyroid patients; but their study revealed that serum retinol levels were not significantly different between their hypothyroid, euthyroid and hyperthyroid patients. Taken all together, these observations suggest that there might be a novel mechanism at play here, possibly a retinol resistance mechanism similar to that of insulin resistance in the context of type II diabetes.

Graeppi-Dulac et al. (2014) examined the effects of retinoids, used as anti-cancer drugs, on the thyroid axis. They found that bexarotene (a retinoid X receptor-selective ligand, brand name Targretin) induced significant hypothyroidism through TSH- β gene suppression at the pituitary. The patient had an extremely low TSH level, with low thyroid hormones, indicating central hypothyroidism. All other pituitary hormones were within the normal range. The patient started with normal-range thyroid values before bexarotene treatment. While she received treatment, which acted as a high dose of retinoic acid at the cellular level, her TSH levels were undetectable. The Farhangi and the Graeppi-Dulac studies showed that the more retinoic acid is active in the pituitary thyrotropes, the lower the serum TSH values are. Neither studies relied on retinol levels

to make their determinations. These observations further reinforce the need to repeat this study with more participants with a greater diversity of TSH levels to confirm or refute this correlation and to find a substitute marker that is more indicative of retinoic acid activity at the cellular level.

Another interesting find was that the non-HT group had a significantly higher daily multivitamin intake than the HT group. From this, the assumption would be that this daily intake in the non-HT group would lead to higher liver reserves of vitamin A, in the form of retinyl esters, than the HT group, and this could potentially be protective against HT. The liver will store the fat-soluble vitamins, such as vitamin A, even to the point of toxicity if there is steady supplementation in addition to fortified food intake. Liver reserve levels may potentially be more indicative of the retinol availability at the cellular level throughout the body. Lower liver vitamin A reserves could mean less retinol delivered to each cell throughout the body even though the amount of retinol in transit is steady.

Vitamin D levels were not significantly different between the two groups, but it is interesting to note that both groups had vitamin D levels on the low end of the normal range of 30-100 ng/mL, with 36.04 ng/mL as the mean for the HT group and 33.27 ng/mL as the mean for the non-HT group. Because the non-HT group had a significantly higher daily multivitamin intake, one would expect that their mean vitamin D levels would be higher but instead, they are lower. Multivitamin intake is not the only factor that influences serum vitamin D levels; sun exposure is another significant factor. Although most multivitamins are formulated to meet the RDA of 600 IU/day for adults, correlating dietary and supplement intake with serum levels is problematic because it cannot account for the sun exposure factor (NIH Office of Dietary Supplements, 2019).

The non-HT group had lower TSH levels than the HT group (although not significantly), which correlates nicely with the findings from the Farhangi and the Graeppi-Dulac studies, indicating that higher levels of vitamin A (or more RXR stimulation) correlate with lower levels of serum TSH. The fact that both groups had similar retinol levels speaks to the fact that serum retinol is under tight homeostatic control and that it takes extreme liver depletion of stored vitamin A to lower it. Various foods in the U.S. food supply chain are fortified with vitamin A (Tanumihardjo et al., 2016), making vitamin A deficiency with low retinol levels an unlikely finding.

The HT group demonstrated significantly higher levels of dairy antibodies and marginally higher, but not significantly so, levels of gluten antibodies than the non-HT group. The notion that all diseases begin in the gut supports that observation. Celiac disease (CD), or gluten-sensitive enteropathy, is a permanent dietary intolerance to gluten leading to permanent mucosal damage in the proximal small bowel. Liontiris and Mazokopakis (2017) suggest screening all autoimmune thyroid disease patients for CD due to their association, which is evidenced by the deficiency of critical elements such as selenium and iodine due to malabsorption, or due to antibodies that affect both target tissues. They further suggest that HT patients, with or without CD, can benefit from a gluten-free diet. Ch'ng, Jones, and Kingham (2007), who note an increased prevalence of CD in patients with autoimmune thyroid disease, type I diabetes mellitus, autoimmune liver disease, and inflammatory bowel disease further support these ideas (Ch'ng, Jones, & Kingham, 2007). The pathogenesis that links HT and CD is unknown, but both conditions share similar HLA haplotypes and are associated with the gene encoding cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen-4. Celiac patients also exhibit higher levels of thyroglobulin and thyroid peroxidase antibodies and show a higher incidence of hypothyroidism and autoimmune thyroid disease with euthyroidism. Additionally, they note that symptomatic celiac patients might only be the tip of the iceberg and that most cases in adult life have milder symptoms and atypical features (Ch'ng et al., 2007).

Ongoing inflammation has been supposed to contribute to the development of both diseases (HT and CD). Both exhibit an increase in Th1 cells with secretion of IL-18 and INF- γ . The presence of IL-18 within the epithelium correlates with enterocyte damage, and INF- γ is a critical factor in gut permeability alteration and inflammation. IL-18 is an essential inducer of INF- γ , and it increases after gluten intake in CD. IL-18 and INF- γ are also implicated in the thyrocyte destruction of HT (Mormile, 2016). Additionally, Santaguida et al. (2018) found that the association of HT and CD was characterized by an increase in the number of Bregs that are possibly defective, and a reduction in Breg memory subsets (Santaguida et al., 2018).

Asik et al. (2014) evaluated the effect of dairy restriction in HT patients with lactose intolerance on serum TSH levels and found that avoidance of dairy products in those patients significantly decreased TSH levels. One of the factors in consideration was that all the patients enrolled in the study were taking levothyroxine (supplemental T4). The HT patients with lactose intolerance had mildly elevated TSH at baseline, and all patients were on a steady dose of levothyroxine. Avoiding all dairy products for eight weeks significantly decreased TSH levels in the lactose intolerant HT patients, while the TSH levels in the HT patients without lactose intolerance, who avoided dairy products in the morning, remained unchanged. They supposed that the ingestion of dairy in dairy-sensitive HT patients was causing intestinal villus injury and subsequent malabsorption, which was interfering with the absorption of the levothyroxine medication (Asik et al., 2014). The connection between gastrointestinal inflammation and nutrient malabsorption, present in both CD and lactose intolerant patients and autoimmunity, such as HT, could explain the significantly higher levels of dairy antibodies and the higher gluten antibodies found in the HT group. C-reactive protein (CRP) levels would have been helpful in further confirming the increased inflammation involved in this relationship; however, the database used in this study did not contain CRP levels.

Significance of the Study

Considering the finding of no significant difference in retinol levels between the HT and non-HT groups, and the review of the literature, which indicates a lack of fluctuation in serum retinol levels despite vast differences in hepatic vitamin A storage levels, testing serum retinol levels is currently not recommended for HT patients, as it provides little clinical value. It appears that most of the studies which assessed the clinical response to vitamin A supplementation in various pathological conditions did not assess retinol levels pre- and post-intervention, but instead focused on markers of the effects of such supplementation, such as TSH levels. The observation indicates that if clinical value is provided to HT patients from vitamin A supplementation, markers other than serum retinol will have to be used to assess the effectiveness of such an intervention

86

(Rubin, Ross, Stephensen, Bohn, & Tanumihardjo, 2017). This study was not an interventional one; therefore, the results of this study cannot either support or reject the recommendation to use vitamin A supplementation in HT. However, the finding of higher multivitamin use in the non-HT group does potentially support the simple recommendation of a daily multivitamin for HT patients. Moreover, this finding probably indicates that there are some, potentially unknown/missed factors that may control or stabilize immune and/or thyroid systems, worthy of further studies.

Because retinol does have immune-modulating effects, it could still be involved in the pathogenesis of HT, but it could also be an innocent bystander in a similar manner as cholesterol is in cardiovascular disease. Retinol, and its active metabolite retinoic acid, are indeed signaling molecules that modulate more than 500 different retinoid-responsive genes, but their effects are modulated locally and act in conjunction with other signaling molecules so that, for example, the immune system can use retinoic acid to increase the effectiveness and stability of the immune response during infection but also to promote immune tolerance and downregulate the immune response once infection resolves (Bono et al., 2016). Another point worth noting is that Rubin et al. (2017) found that acute inflammation can induce a temporary drop in serum retinol levels due to the immediate decrease in RBP and transthyretin during that process, even before CRP levels rise. Serum retinol and RBP concentrations inversely correlate to serum IL-6 levels, which is the principal regulator of the acute phase response because it induces the expression of many acute-phase protein genes. Once the infection resolves, the serum retinol levels return to normal. The rapid, subsequent return to normal suggests that during the acute

phase reaction, retinol redistributes to other body compartments, from which it can reenter blood circulation when the acute phase process is complete. A study using labeled retinol indicated that the body compartment in which retinol sequesters is the liver and that there is no appreciable irreversible loss of retinol (Rubin et al., 2017). The temporary drop in serum retinol indicates that, in clinical practice, the finding of low serum retinol levels should be interpreted in conjunction with indicators of infection and acute inflammation such as CRP. Unfortunately, no CRP levels were available in the database used for this study, and thus, no statistical analyses could be done to elucidate the inflammatory status of each group and its relationship to serum retinol levels in the context of HT. The work should be repeated using a new collection of data that includes CRP or high sensitivity CRP levels.

It is possible that the correlation that was found between TSH and retinol depicts some kind of cellular resistance mechanism. The rise in retinol, which parallels the rise in TSH, could potentially be an attempt to downregulate the immune response and restore homeostasis but the signals sent by retinol are not being acted on. This could indicate that the retinol-signaling pathway is disrupted in HT, or in a subset of patients with HT. This correlation warrants a deeper investigation, as it may reveal some yet unknown cellular mechanisms in the development of HT.

Limitations

The limitations of this study were that serum retinol levels don't reflect the hepatic vitamin A reserve, the non-HT group was potentially not reflective of an average

healthy population, there were not enough overt hypothyroid HT patients in the HT group, it used a small sample size, it was composed of all female participants, and it reflects a limited geographical area. The first internal validity problem was that serum retinol levels are not indicative of hepatic vitamin A reserves, which is the gold standard for vitamin A status. However, assessing hepatic vitamin A reserves requires a liver biopsy, which is an invasive procedure and not suitable for population testing. The second internal validity problem was that the independent t-test assumes a normal distribution, and the serum retinol measurements were unlikely to have been produced by a normal distribution, violating the normality assumption.

The first external validity problem was that the non-HT group was potentially not reflective of a healthy control group. The entire dataset used the clinic patients' lab values and chart data for both groups. Patients come to this clinic because they have chronic health issues. Therefore, although the non-HT group did not have Hashimoto's thyroiditis, they could have had another chronic inflammatory condition. The lack of CRP values, as a marker of inflammation, in the dataset makes it impossible to account for this confounding factor. The second external validity problem was that there were not enough overtly hypothyroid HT patients in the HT group. The lack of overtly hypothyroid participants could cause the HT group not to be genuinely reflective of the fully developed condition and could have confounded some of the statistical measurements, especially those of TSH levels and anti-thyroid antibodies. The third external validity problem was the small sample size. Although it was sufficient to achieve statistical significance, the size of the original dataset limited the sample size. The last two issues were that the dataset was composed of all female patients, which were included in the original dataset because they have more thyroid issues than males, and that all patient data came from a single clinic that serves a limited geographical area in rural Arkansas.

These issues limit any broad external validity claims. The study should be repeated with more patients, of both sexes, and ideally over a broader geographical area or in a different geographical area. The broader geographical coverage and the higher sample size would also allow for the HT group to have more overt hypothyroid HT patients, which would more accurately reflect the pathology of the disease. It could also be repeated with only overt hypothyroid patients in the HT group. Finding an actual healthy control, non-HT, group may still prove problematic because physicians rarely order serum retinol levels in healthy people. Including CRP measurements in a new study would also allow some control over this confounding factor. Lastly, finding a more accurate but non-invasive marker of liver vitamin A status is essential for accurate measurement of vitamin A status in a repeat study.

Delimitations

Hashimoto's thyroiditis was selected as the disease to investigate in this study because it is a common autoimmune disease, and there were enough patients in the dataset that had positive thyroid antibodies to achieve statistical significance. Research teams all over the world are investigating vitamin A for its potential therapeutic benefits in various autoimmune diseases. Most of the published work uses the mouse model for Multiple Sclerosis (MS), but some of the research with MS does include human interventional studies. There is very little research involving HT and vitamin A (or retinol). With HT being one of the most common autoimmune diseases, vitamin A affecting both the thyroid and immune systems, it is only logical to investigate any connections between these and add to the existing body of research. It also seemed logical first to establish whether a deficiency of vitamin A existed in HT patients, albeit the marker chosen was inadequate to reveal that information.

This study was designed as a retrospective case-controlled study using an existing dataset from a previous study because IRB approval was not granted for an original study, which would have established a brand-new dataset. Using the already established dataset limited the variables that were available for analysis and limited the study population to non-pregnant females aged 18 to 65 years. All the patients in the dataset had all the usual thyroid function tests on record, including the independent variable, TSH, but some did not have thyroid antibodies on record. The dataset contained enough patients with serum retinol levels to be able to apply selection criteria and get two groups of 26 participants each.

The first selection criterion was that all participants must have retinol levels on record because retinol was the dependent variable. Then any participants that had either or both TPO and TG antibodies on record were selected into the HT group because these are diagnostic for HT. Participants that were on thyroid replacement medications were removed from the HT group because these can increase the conversion of β -carotene to retinol and thus might be a confounding factor. For the non-HT group, participants had

to have a normal TSH and no thyroid antibodies, because any thyroid abnormalities would be confounders in the statistical analysis. From those participants, anyone with a diagnosed autoimmune disorder was eliminated, due to the immune abnormalities that are common to many autoimmune diseases, and which could also act as confounders. Finally, randomization was used in each group of participants to eliminate selection bias and allow for an equal number of participants in each group.

Each group's characteristics were analyzed to uncover any unexpected differences. Gluten and dairy antibodies were included due to the connection between gut health and autoimmunity. All the available thyroid lab values were compared to evaluate group heterogeneity. Vitamin D analysis was also included on the basis that it is a fat-soluble vitamin that can modulate the immune response and attenuate the symptoms of certain autoimmune diseases, as well as modify thyroid function. Those characteristics make it a sort of cousin to vitamin A, and therefore, its group characterization seemed essential. Lastly, multivitamin use was included in the group characterization due to its potential impact on nutrient status differences between the groups.

Conclusion

This study did not find a difference in serum retinol levels between patients with HT and patients without HT. Although the hypothesis was that the serum retinol levels would be lower in HT patients due to the autoimmune process, the data did not support this hypothesis. The additional hypothesis that, in HT, cellular sensitivity to retinol is reduced while serum retinol levels remain unchanged remains to be explored, although our finding of positive correlation of retinol levels with higher TSH fits well with this idea and may even support it. This study did reveal a moderate positive correlation between retinol and TSH levels in the entire sample, with high TSH levels correlating to higher (but still within normal range) retinol levels. Additionally, the examination of the HT group for a correlation between retinol and thyroid antibodies levels found no correlations between retinol and either thyroid antibody levels. This study also revealed that the HT group demonstrated higher levels of gluten antibodies (but not significantly) and significantly higher levels of dairy antibodies and the non-HT group had significantly more participants that took a multivitamin.

This study did find a few points to consider when conducting human research on retinol. The first point to consider is that this study revealed an important new aspect, namely a relationship between retinol and TSH. It is possible that under normal physiological conditions, an increase in retinol causes a decrease in TSH, but in HT, when TSH increases because of the disease mechanism, it may cause an increase in retinol as a compensation for a possible reduced cellular sensitivity to retinol uptake or a less effective retinol to retinoic acid metabolism pathway.

The second point is that a minimally invasive, convenient marker of actual liver vitamin A reserves is needed to assess vitamin A status. The percentage of retinyl esters in total circulating vitamin A may be a promising candidate, but it would need validation as a tool to assess vitamin A deficiency. Currently, this test is only used and validated to assess hypervitaminosis A. Although, one study reported the normal percentage of retinyl esters in fasting blood plasma was reported to be 11% of the total circulating
vitamin A in people aged 19-59 years and 13% in people older than 60 years old (Tanumihardjo et al., 2016). Additionally, the use of the rapid dark adaptation test is a possible candidate for the assessment of vitamin A deficiency, but it needs evaluation as an efficient in-office tool to differentiate patients that have liver vitamin A reserves low enough to cause the first symptoms of night blindness.

The third point to consider is that several of the interventional vitamin A studies reviewed did not use serum retinol levels pre- and post-intervention. They instead used other markers of disease activity, specifically thyroid function or immune function, but omitted to establish low vitamin A status. Therefore, it is still possible that VA plays an important role, and a vitamin A supplementation may affect the markers of Hashimoto's thyroiditis. This idea could be validated with an interventional study. Lastly, the study uncovered a significantly lower multivitamin use in the HT group. This finding strongly indicates that there are some, potentially unknown or at least missed, molecular factors that may control or stabilize the immune and/or thyroid systems, which warrants further investigations.

Future Research

One avenue of future research is investigating alternate, minimally invasive ways to assess liver vitamin A reserves or finding a marker that reflects the cellular activity of retinol or retinoic acid. One suggestion would be to study the rapid dark adaptation screening technique in Hashimoto's thyroiditis, and other autoimmune diseases, to identify patients that are low in vitamin A. The researcher could then subsequently implement supplementation and reevaluate both dark adaptation and disease activity assessment. Another suggestion would be to use the SpectraCell micronutrient test from SpectraCell Laboratories to assess functional vitamin A status in the context of HT. This test uses white blood cells to measure functional deficiencies at the cellular level (SpectraCell Laboratories, 2020).

The second avenue of future research is to design a study based on the observation that several of the reviewed interventional vitamin A studies did not use serum retinol levels pre- and post-intervention. They instead used other markers of disease activity specifically thyroid function or immune function but omitted to establish low vitamin A status. Therefore, it would be possible to design a study that evaluated the effect of vitamin A supplementation on the markers of Hashimoto's thyroiditis, namely TSH levels and thyroid antibodies.

Additionally, a new study with a higher number of participants might shed some light on the issues encountered in the current study. Screening more participants, to find those with overt hypothyroidism due to HT, could allow more of them to be subcategorized from the HT group and compared to non-HT participants. Alternatively, the HT group could have a higher number of overt hypothyroid patients, likely allowing the group to represent the pathology of HT better.

Because this study revealed a relationship between retinol and TSH that seemed to be an important one, repeating this analysis with a larger sample size would confirm or refute this relationship, or may even uncover new patterns of association between retinol and TSH in the context of HT. Having more participants with increased TSH values in the HT group would serve to confirm or refute the relationship between TSH and retinol in the context of HT. Because injections of high doses of synthetic retinol as a secondline treatment for late stage T-cell lymphoma in patients with previously normal thyroid function, are known to decrease TSH and not increase it (Graeppi-Dulac et al., 2014). The repeat study could also include the capture of CRP levels, an indicator of inflammation, or high sensitivity CRP levels, an indicator of low-grade inflammation, in the data to characterize each group better and evaluate how inflammation might affect the results. Acute inflammation is known to decrease serum retinol levels by decreasing RBP production (retinol's transport protein) in the liver (Tanumihardjo et al., 2016). It would be interesting to find out if a persistent low-grade inflammation affects serum retinol levels, to characterize the CRP levels in HT patients and to investigate any correlation between CRP/hsCRP and serum retinol in the context of HT.

It would also be interesting to design the study as a prospective case-controlled study, allowing for more control over confounders such as autoimmune disease and celiac disease status screening, dietary patterns, type and frequency of multivitamin use, and the incorporation a more representative selection for the HT and normal control groups.

96

REFERENCES

- Abdelhamid, L., & Luo, X. M. (2018). Retinoic Acid, Leaky Gut, and Autoimmune Diseases. *Nutrients*(8), 1016. doi:10.3390/nu10081016
- Acıbucu, F., Dokmetas, H. S., Kılıclı, F., Celik, C., & Aydemir, M. (2016). The Effect of Vitamin D Treatment on Thyroid Function and the Levels of Thyroid Autoantibodies, TNF-α, IL-6, IL-1β in Patients With Autoimmune Thyroiditis. *Otoimmun tiroiditi bulunan hastalarda D vitamini tedavisinin tiroid fonksiyonları ve tiroid otoantikorları, TNF-α, IL-6, IL-1β düzeyleri üzerine etkisi., 38*(4), 315-321. doi:10.7197/cmj.v38i4.5000185086
- Aktuna, D., Buchinger, W., Langsteger, W., Meister, E., Sternad, H., Lorenz, O., & Eber, O. (1993). Beta-Carotene, Vitamin A and Carrier Proteins in Thyroid Diseases. *Acta Med Austriaca*, 20(1-2), 17-20.
- American Association of Clinical Chemistry Board. (2017). Hashimoto Thyroiditis. Retrieved from <u>https://labtestsonline.org/conditions/hashimoto-thyroiditis</u>
- American Association of Clinical Chemistry Board. (2019). Vitamin A. Retrieved from <u>https://labtestsonline.org/tests/vitamin-a</u>
- Aminian, K., Bahrami, A., Najafipour, M., & Najafipour, F. (2019). Effect of Vitamin D Replacement on Serum TSH in Women with Anti-TPO Positive Sub-clinical Hypothyroidism. *Journal of Clinical & Diagnostic Research*, 13(1), 1-3. doi:10.7860/JCDR/2019/38168.12426
- Asik, M., Gunes, F., Binnetoglu, E., Eroglu, M., Bozkurt, N., Sen, H., . . . Ukinc, K. (2014). Decrease in TSH Levels After Lactose Restriction in Hashimoto's Thyroiditis Patients With Lactose Intolerance. *Endocrine*, 46(2), 279-284. doi:10.1007/s12020-013-0065-1
- Biebinger, R., Arnold, M., Koss, M., Kloeckener-Gruissem, B., Langhans, W., Hurrell, R. F., & Zimmermann, M. B. (2006). Effect of Concurrent Vitamin A and Iodine Deficiencies on the Thyroid-Pituitary Axis in Rats. *Thyroid: Official Journal Of The American Thyroid Association, 16*(10), 961-965.
- Biebinger, R., Arnold, M., Langhans, W., Hurrell, R. F., & Zimmermann, M. B. (2007).
 Vitamin A Repletion in Rats With Concurrent Vitamin A and Iodine Deficiency
 Affects Pituitary TSHbeta Gene Expression and Reduces Thyroid
 Hyperstimulation and Thyroid Size. *The Journal Of Nutrition*, 137(3), 573-577.
- Bitarafan, S., Saboor-Yaraghi, A., Sahraian, M.-A., Soltani, D., Nafissi, S., Togha, M., . . . Harirchian, M.-H. (2016). Effect of Vitamin A Supplementation on Fatigue and Depression in Multiple Sclerosis Patients: A Double-Blind Placebo-Controlled Clinical Trial. *Iranian Journal Of Allergy, Asthma, And Immunology, 15*(1), 13-19.
- Bono, M. R., Tejon, G., Flores-Santibañez, F., Fernandez, D., Sauma, D., & Rosemblatt, M. (2016). Retinoic Acid as a Modulator of T Cell Immunity. *Nutrients*, 8(6), 349. doi:10.3390/nu8060349
- Breen, J. J., Matsuura, T., Ross, A. C., & Gurr, J. A. (1995). Regulation of Thyroid-Stimulating Hormone Beta-Subunit and Growth Hormone Messenger Ribonucleic

Acid Levels in the Rat: Effect of Vitamin A Status. *Endocrinology*, *136*(2), 543-549.

- Brent, G. A. (2012). Mechanisms of Thyroid Hormone Action. *The Journal Of Clinical Investigation*, *122*(9), 3035-3043. doi:10.1172/JCI60047
- Brossaud, J., Pallet, V., & Corcuff, J. B. (2017). Vitamin A, Endocrine Tissues and Hormones: Interplay and Interactions. *Endocrine Connections*(7), R121. doi:10.1530/EC-17-0101
- Brown, N. S., Smart, A., Sharma, V., Brinkmeier, M. L., Greenlee, L., Camper, S. A., ... Haugen, B. R. (2000). Thyroid Hormone Resistance and Increased Metabolic Rate in the RXR-γ-deficient Mouse. *The Journal Of Clinical Investigation*(1), 73.
- Burrows, K., Antignano, F., Chenery, A., Bramhall, M., Korinek, V., Underhill, T. M., & Zaph, C. (2018). HIC1 Links Retinoic Acid Signalling to Group 3 Innate Lymphoid Cell-Dependent Regulation of Intestinal Immunity and Homeostasis. *PLoS Pathogens*, 14(2), e1006869-e1006869. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1006869
- Ch'ng, C. L., Jones, M. K., & Kingham, J. G. C. (2007). Celiac Disease and Autoimmune Thyroid Disease. *Clinical medicine & research*, 5(3), 184-192. doi:10.3121/cmr.2007.738
- Chaudhary, S., Dutta, D., Kumar, M., Saha, S., Mondal, S. A., Kumar, A., & Mukhopadhyay, S. (2016). Vitamin D Supplementation Reduces Thyroid Peroxidase Antibody Levels in Patients With Autoimmune Thyroid Disease: an Open-Labeled Randomized Controlled Trial. *Indian Journal of Endocrinology* and Metabolism(3), 391. doi:10.4103/2230-8210.179997
- Choi, Y. M., Kim, W. G., Kim, T. Y., Bae, S. J., Kim, H.-K., Jang, E. K., ... Kim, W. B. (2014). Low Levels of Serum Vitamin D3 are Associated With Autoimmune Thyroid Disease in Pre-Menopausal Women. *Thyroid: Official Journal Of The American Thyroid Association*, 24(4), 655-661. doi:10.1089/thy.2013.0460
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavior sciences* (2nd ed.). St. Paul, MN: West Publishing Company.
- Dorfner, M. (2017). What is Hashimoto's Disease? Retrieved from https://newsnetwork.mayoclinic.org/discussion/what-is-hashimotos-disease/
- Dorosty-Motlagh, A. R., Honarvar, N. M., Sedighiyan, M., & Abdolahi, M. (2016). The Molecular Mechanisms of Vitamin A Deficiency in Multiple Sclerosis. *Journal Of Molecular Neuroscience: MN*, 60(1), 82-90. doi:10.1007/s12031-016-0781-0
- Eberl, G., Colonna, M., Di Santo, J. P., & McKenzie, A. N. J. (2015). Innate Lymphoid Cells: A New Paradigm in Immunology. *Science*, *348*(6237), aaa6566-6561-6568. doi:10.1126/science.aaa6566
- El-Eshmawy, M. M., Arafa, M. M., Elzehery, R. R., Elhelaly, R. M., Elrakhawy, M. M., & El-Baiomy, A. A. (2016). Relationship Between Vitamin A Deficiency and the Thyroid Axis in Clinically Stable Patients With Liver Cirrhosis Related to Hepatitis C Virus. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition & Metabolism, 41*(9), 985-991.
- Erkelens, M. N., & Mebius, R. E. (2017). Retinoic Acid and Immune Homeostasis: A Balancing Act. *Trends in Immunology*(3), 168. doi:10.1016/j.it.2016.12.006

- Esfahanian, F., Ghelich, R., Rashidian, H., & Jadali, Z. (2017). Increased Levels of Serum Interleukin-17 in Patients With Hashimoto's Thyroiditis. *Indian Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism*(4), 551. doi:10.4103/ijem.IJEM_412_16
- Fairweather, D., & Rose, N. R. (2004). Women and Autoimmune Diseases. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 10 (11), 2005-2011. Retrieved from https://dx.doi.org/10.3201/eid1011.040367
- Farhangi, M. A., Keshavarz, S. A., Eshraghian, M., Ostadrahimi, A., & Saboor-Yaraghi, A. A. (2012). The Effect of Vitamin A Supplementation on Thyroid Function in Premenopausal Women. J Am Coll Nutr, 31(4), 268-274.
- Farhangi, M. A., Keshavarz, S. A., Eshraghian, M., Ostadrahimi, A., & Saboor-Yaraghi, A. A. (2013). Vitamin A Supplementation and Serum Th1- and Th2-Associated Cytokine Response in Women. J Am Coll Nutr, 32(4), 280-285. doi:10.1080/07315724.2013.816616
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2013). G*Power Version 3.1.7 [computer software]. Uiversität Kiel, Germany. Retrieved from <u>http://www.psycho.uni-duesseldorf.de/abteilungen/aap/gpower3/download-and-register</u>
- Féart, C., Vallortigara, J., Higueret, D., Gatta, B., Tabarin, A., Enderlin, V., ... Pallet, V. (2005). Decreased Expression of Retinoid Nuclear Receptor (RAR alpha and RAR gamma) mRNA Determined by Real-time Quantitative RT-PCR in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells of Hypothyroid Patients. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, 34(3), 849.
- Ferreira, L. M. R. (2013). Gammadelta T Cells: Innately Adaptive Immune Cells? International Reviews of Immunology, 32(3), 223-248. doi:10.3109/08830185.2013.783831
- Frohlich, E., & Wahl, R. (1999). Effects of Retinol on Follicular Porcine Thyrocytes in Culture. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*(1), 189.
- Goldmuntz, E., & Penn, A. S. (2012, April 12, 2019). Office on Women's Health: Autoimmune Diseases. Retrieved from <u>https://www.womenshealth.gov/a-z-topics/autoimmune-diseases</u>
- González-Amaro, R., & Marazuela, M. (2016). T Regulatory (Treg) and T Helper 17 (Th17) Lymphocytes in Thyroid Autoimmunity. *Endocrine*, 52(1), 30-38. doi:10.1007/s12020-015-0759-7
- Graeppi-Dulac, J., Vlaeminck, V., Perier-Muzet, M., Dalle, S., & Orgiazzi, J. (2014). *The Impact of Retinoids on the Thyroid Axis* (Vol. 170).
- Guo, H., Peng, D., Yang, X.-G., Wang, Y., Xu, B.-C., Ni, J.-S., ... Jiang, Y.-F. (2014). A Higher Frequency of Circulating IL-22+CD4+ T Cells in Chinese Patients with Newly Diagnosed Hashimoto's Thyroiditis. *Plos One*, 9(1), 1-7. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0084545
- Hall, Jason A., Cannons, Jennifer L., Grainger, John R., Dos Santos, Liliane M., Hand, Timothy W., Naik, S., . . . Belkaid, Y. (2011). Essential Role for Retinoic Acid in the Promotion of CD4+ T Cell Effector Responses via Retinoic Acid Receptor Alpha. *Immunity*, 34(3), 435-447. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.003

- Hall, Jason A., Grainger, John R., Spencer, Sean P., & Belkaid, Y. (2011). The Role of Retinoic Acid in Tolerance and Immunity. *Immunity*, 35(1), 13-22. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.07.002
- Harrison, E. H. (2012). Mechanisms Involved in the Intestinal Absorption of Dietary Vitamin A and Provitamin A Carotenoids. BBA - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids, 1821(1), 70-77. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2011.06.002
- Hashemipour, M., Keshteli, A. H., Dastjerdi, M. S., Amini, M., Kelishadi, R., & Koleini, N. (2009). Vitamin A Status Does not Contribute to the Residual Goiter in Schoolchildren of Isfahan, an Iodine Replenished Area. *International Journal of Food Sciences & Nutrition*, 60, 19-27.
- Haugen, B. R., Brown, N. S., Wood, W. M., Gordon, D. F., & Ridgway, E. C. (1997). The Thyrotrope-Restricted Isoform of the Retinoid-X Receptor-gamma1 Mediates 9-cis-Retinoic Acid Suppression of Thyrotropin-beta Promoter Activity. *Molecular Endocrinology (Baltimore, Md.), 11*(4), 481-489.
- Hess, S. Y. (2010). The Impact of Common Micronutrient Deficiencies on Iodine and Thyroid Metabolism: the Evidence From Human Studies. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 24(1), 117-132. doi:10.1016/j.beem.2009.08.012
- Higdon, J. (2000, March 2015). Vitamin A. *Linus Pauling Institute: Micronutrient Information Center*. Retrieved from https://lpi.oregonstate.edu/mic/vitamins/vitamin-A
- Higueret, P., Pailler, I., & Garcin, H. (1989). Vitamin A Deficiency and Triiodothyronine Action at the Cellular Level in the Rat. *J Endocrinol*, 121(1), 75-79.
- Huang, Z., Liu, Y., Qi, G., Brand, D., & Zheng, S. G. (2018). Role of Vitamin A in the Immune System. *Journal of clinical medicine*, 7(9), 258. doi:10.3390/jcm7090258
- Ingenbleek, Y. (1992). Iodine Deficiency and Other Nutrition Factors in Endemic Goiter Epidemiology. *Nutrition (Burbank, Los Angeles County, Calif.),* 8(1), 55-56.
- Ingenbleek, Y. (2013). Vitamin A-Deficiency Impairs the Normal Mannosylation, Conformation and Iodination of Thyroglobulin: A New Etiological Approach to Endemic Goitre. In (pp. 264). Basel: Birkhäuser Basel.
- Lee, S. (2018, March 2, 2018). What is the Incidence of Hashimoto Thyroiditis in the US? Retrieved from <u>https://www.medscape.com/answers/120937-122448/what-is-the-incidence-of-hashimoto-thyroiditis-in-the-us</u>
- Liontiris, M. I., & Mazokopakis, E. E. (2017). A Concise Review of Hashimoto Thyroiditis (HT) and the Importance of Iodine, Selenium, Vitamin D and Gluten on the Autoimmunity and Dietary Management of HT Patients. Points That Need More Investigation. *Hellenic Journal Of Nuclear Medicine*, 20(1), 51-56. doi:10.1967/s002449910507
- Liu, H., Zheng, T., Mao, Y., Xu, C., Wu, F., Bu, L., ... Mao, C. (2016). γδ T Cells Enhance B Cells for Antibody Production in Hashimoto's Thyroiditis, and Retinoic Acid Induces Apoptosis of the γδ T Cell. *Endocrine*, 51(1), 113-122. doi:10.1007/s12020-015-0631-9

- Lu, L., Ma, J., Li, Z., Lan, Q., Chen, M., Liu, Y., . . . Zheng, S. G. (2011). All-Trans Retinoic Acid Promotes TGF-[beta]-Induced Tregs via Histone Modification but Not DNA Demethylation on Foxp3 Gene Locus. *Plos One*(9). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024590
- Luo, Y., Ishido, Y., Hiroi, N., Ishii, N., & Suzuki, K. (2014). The Emerging Roles of Thyroglobulin. Advances in Endocrinology, 2014, 7. doi:10.1155/2014/189194
- Mayo Clinic Staff. (2017). Hashimoto's Disease: Diagnosis and Treatment Retrieved from <u>https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/hashimotos-</u> <u>disease/diagnosis-treatment/drc-20351860</u>
- Mora, J. R., Iwata, M., & von Andrian, U. H. (2008). Vitamin Effects on the Immune System: Vitamins A and D Take Centre Stage. *Nature reviews. Immunology*, 8(9), 685-698. doi:10.1038/nri2378
- Morley, J. E., Russell, R. M., Reed, A., Carney, E. A., & Hershman, J. M. (1981). The Interrelationship of Thyroid Hormones With Vitamin A and Zinc Nutritional Status in Patients With Chronic Hepatic and Gastrointestinal Disorders. Am J Clin Nutr, 34(8), 1489-1495.
- Mormile, R. (2016). Celiac Disease and Hashimoto's Thyroiditis: a Shared Plot? International Journal Of Colorectal Disease, 31(4), 947-947. doi:10.1007/s00384-015-2370-z
- Muhlbauer, M., da Silva, A. C., Marassi, M. P., Lourenco, A. L., Ferreira, A. C., & de Carvalho, D. P. (2010). Retinoic Acid Modulation of Thyroid Dual Oxidase Activity in Rats and its Impact on Thyroid Iodine Organification. *J Endocrinol*, 205(3), 271-277. doi:10.1677/joe-09-0421
- Namba, H., Yamashita, S., Morita, S., Villadolid, M., Kimura, H., Yokoyama, N., . . . Nagataki, S. Retinoic Acid Inhibits Human Thyroid Peroxidase and Thyroglobulin Gene Expression in Cultured Human Thyrocytes. *Journal of Endocrinological Investigation*, 16(2), 87-93. Retrieved from <u>https://ezproxy.library.astate.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.asp</u> <u>x?direct=true&db=bxh&AN=BACD199396062299&site=eds-live&scope=site</u>
- Napoli, J. L. (2012). Physiological Insights Into all-Trans-Retinoic Acid Biosynthesis. BBA - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids, 1821(1), 152-167. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2011.05.004
- National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. (2017). Hashimoto's Disease. Retrieved from <u>https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-information/endocrine-diseases/hashimotos-disease</u>
- Nguyen, V., Pearson, K., Kim, J.-H., Kamdar, K., & DePaolo, R. W. (2015). Retinoic Acid can Exacerbate T Cell Intrinsic TLR2 Activation to Promote Tolerance. *Plos One, 10*(3), e0118875-e0118875. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0118875
- Nielsen, C. H., Hegedüs, L., Rieneck, K., Moeller, A. C., Leslie, R. G. Q., & Bendtzen, K. (2007). Production of Interleukin (IL)-5 and IL-10 Accompanies T Helper Cell Type 1 (Th1) Cytokine Responses to a Major Thyroid Self-Antigen, Thyroglobulin, in Health and Autoimmune Thyroid Disease. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*, *147*(2), 287-295. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2006.03283.x

- NIH Office of Dietary Supplements. (2019, August 2019). Vitamin D: Fact Sheet for Health Professionals. Retrieved from <u>https://ods.od.nih.gov/factsheets/VitaminD-HealthProfessional/</u>
- Oba, K., & Kimura, S. (1980). Effects of Vitamin A Deficiency on Thyroid Function and Serum Thyroxine Levels in the Rat. *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology*, 26(4), 327-334. doi:10.3177/jnsv.26.327
- Oliveira, L. d. M., Teixeira, F. M. E., & Sato, M. N. (2018). Impact of Retinoic Acid on Immune Cells and Inflammatory Diseases. *Mediators Of Inflammation*, 2018, 3067126-3067126. doi:10.1155/2018/3067126
- Olsen, K., Suri, D. J., Davis, C., Sheftel, J., Nishimoto, K., Yamaoka, Y., . . . Tanumihardjo, S. A. (2018). Serum Retinyl Esters are Positively Correlated With Analyzed Total Liver Vitamin A Reserves Collected From US Adults at Time of Death. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 108(5), 997-1005. doi:10.1093/ajcn/nqy190
- Parastouei, K., Mirshafiey, A., Eshraghian, M. R., Shiri-Shahsavar, M. R., Solaymani-Mohammadi, F., Chahardoli, R., . . . Saboor-Yaraghi, A. A. (2018). The Effect of 1, 25(OH)2 D3 (Calcitriol) Alone and in Combination With all-Trans Retinoic Acid on ROR-γt, IL-17, TGF-β, and FOXP3 Gene Expression in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. *Nutritional Neuroscience*, 21(3), 210-218. doi:10.1080/1028415X.2016.1263039
- Pilch, S. M. (1985). Assessment of the Vitamin A Nutritional Status of the U.S.
 Population Based on Data Collected in the Health and Nutrition Examination
 Surveys. Bethesda, Md. : Life Sciences Research Office, Federation of American
 Societies for Experimental Biology: Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition (U.S.)
- Pimstone, S. N., Clee, S. M., Gagné, S. E., Miao, L., Zhang, H., Stein, E. A., & Hayden, M. R. (1996). A Frequently Occurring Mutation in the Lipoprotein Lipase Gene (Asn291Ser) Results in Altered Postprandial Chylomicron Triglyceride and Retinyl Palmitate Response in Normolipidemic Carriers. *Journal Of Lipid Research*, 37(8), 1675-1684. Retrieved from https://search.ebscohost.com/login.asp
- Riccio, P., & Rossano, R. (2018). Diet, Gut Microbiota, and Vitamins D + A in Multiple Sclerosis. Neurotherapeutics: The Journal Of The American Society For Experimental Neurotherapeutics, 15(1), 75-91. doi:10.1007/s13311-017-0581-4
- Ross, A. C. a. p. e. (2012). Vitamin A and Retinoic Acid in T Cell-Related Immunity. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *96*(5), 1166S-1172S. doi:10.3945/ajcn.112.034637
- Rubin, L. P., Ross, A. C., Stephensen, C. B., Bohn, T., & Tanumihardjo, S. A. (2017). Metabolic Effects of Inflammation on Vitamin A and Carotenoids in Humans and Animal Models. *Advances in Nutrition*, 8(2), 197-212. doi:10.3945/an.116.014167
- Ruggeri, R. M., Minciullo, P., Saitta, S., Giovinazzo, S., Certo, R., Campennì, A., . . . Benvenga, S. (2014). Serum Interleukin-22 (IL-22) is Increased in the Early Stage

of Hashimoto's Thyroiditis Compared to non-Autoimmune Thyroid Disease and Healthy Controls. *Hormones (Athens, Greece), 13*(3), 338-344. doi:10.14310/horm.2002.1483

- Russell, R. M. (2000). The vitamin A Spectrum: From Deficiency to Toxicity. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 71(4), 878-884. doi:10.1093/ajcn/71.4.878
- Santaguida, M. G., Gatto, I., Mangino, G., Virili, C., Stramazzo, I., Fallahi, P., . . . Centanni, M. (2018). Breg Cells in Celiac Disease Isolated or Associated to Hashimoto's Thyroiditis. *International Journal of Endocrinology*, 1-6. doi:10.1155/2018/5290865
- Sellitti, D. F., & Suzuki, K. (2014). Intrinsic Regulation of Thyroid Function by Thyroglobulin. *Thyroid : official journal of the American Thyroid Association*, 24(4), 625-638. doi:10.1089/thy.2013.0344
- Sentenac, H. (2018, July 13). 6 Foods to Eat and 3 to Avoid to Help Your Body Fight Autoimmune Disease and Excessive Inflammation. Retrieved from <u>https://foodrevolution.org/blog/autoimmune-disease-diet/</u>
- Shiri-Shahsavar, M. R., Mirshafiee, A., Parastouei, K., Ebrahimi-Kalan, A., Yekaninejad, S., Soleymani, F., . . . Saboor-Yaraghi, A. A. (2016). A Novel Combination of Docosahexaenoic Acid, All-Trans Retinoic Acid, and 1, 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 Reduces T-Bet Gene Expression, Serum Interferon Gamma, and Clinical Scores but Promotes PPARγ Gene Expression in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. *Journal Of Molecular Neuroscience: MN*, 60(4), 498-508. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007%2Fs12031-016-0834-4.pdf
- Simsek, Y., Cakır, I., Yetmis, M., Dizdar, O. S., Baspinar, O., & Gokay, F. (2016). Effects of Vitamin D Treatment on Thyroid Autoimmunity. *Journal of Research in Medical Sciences*, 21, 1-6.
- SpectraCell Laboratories. (2020). Micronutrient Test. Retrieved from https://spectracell.sitewrench.com/search-tests
- Stassi, G., Di Liberto, D., Todaro, M., Zeuner, A., Ricci-Vitiani, L., Stoppacciaro, A., . . . De Maria, R. (2000). Control of Target Cell Survival in Thyroid Autoimmunity by T Helper Cytokines via Regulation of Apoptotic Proteins. *Nature Immunology*, *1*(6), 483-488. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/ni1200_483.pdf</u>
- Taibi, G., Gueli, M. C., Nicotra, C. M. A., Cocciadiferro, L., & Carruba, G. (2014). Retinol Oxidation to Retinoic Acid in Human Thyroid Glandular Cells. *Journal Of Enzyme Inhibition And Medicinal Chemistry*, 29(6), 796-803. doi:10.3109/14756366.2013.855928
- Tanumihardjo, S. A., Russell, R. M., Stephensen, C. B., Gannon, B. M., Craft, N. E., Haskell, M. J., . . . Raiten, D. J. (2016). Biomarkers of Nutrition for Development (BOND)—Vitamin A Review. *The Journal Of Nutrition*, 146(9), 1816S-1848S. doi:10.3945/jn.115.229708
- Vaishnava, S., & Hooper, Lora V. (2011). Eat Your Carrots! T Cells Are RARing to Go. *Immunity*, *34*(3), 290-292. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.007
- Vitales-Noyola, M., Ramos-Levi, A. M., Martínez-Hernández, R., Serrano-Somavilla, A., Sampedro-Nuñez, M., González-Amaro, R., & Marazuela, M. (2017). Pathogenic

Th17 and Th22 Cells are Increased in Patients With Autoimmune Thyroid Disorders. *Endocrine*, *57*(3), 409-417. doi:10.1007/s12020-017-1361-y

- Wolde-Gebriel, Z., Gebru, H., Fisseha, T., & West, C. E. (1993). Severe Vitamin A Deficiency in a Rural Village in the Hararge Region of Ethiopia. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*(2), 104.
- Wolf, G. (2002). The Regulation of the Thyroid-Stimulating Hormone of the Anterior Pituitary Gland by Thyroid Hormone and by 9-cis-Retinoic Acid. *Nutrition Reviews*, 60(11), 374-377.
- Zaķe, T., Skuja, S., Lejnieks, A., Groma, V., & Konrāde, I. (2019). Immunological Mechanisms of Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases: A Shift in The Traditional TH1/TH2 Paradigm. *Proceedings of the Latvian Academy of Sciences. Section B, Natural Sciences*(2), 67. doi:10.2478/prolas-2019-0012
- Zimmermann, M. B. (2007). Interactions of Vitamin A and Iodine Deficiencies: Effects on the Pituitary-Thyroid Axis. *International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research*, 77(3), 236-240. doi:10.1024/0300-9831.77.3.236
- Zimmermann, M. B., Jooste, P. L., Mabapa, N. S., Schoeman, S., Biebinger, R., Mushaphi, L. F., & Mbhenyane, X. (2007). Vitamin A Supplementation in Iodine-Deficient African Children Decreases Thyrotropin Stimulation of the Thyroid and Reduces the Goiter Rate. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 86(4), 1040-1044.
- Zimmermann, M. B., Wegmüller, R., Zeder, C., Chaouki, N., & Torresani, T. (2004). The Effects of Vitamin A Deficiency and Vitamin A Supplementation on Thyroid Function in Goitrous Children. *The Journal Of Clinical Endocrinology And Metabolism*, 89(11), 5441-5447.